
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Public Accounts Select Committee 
Agenda 

 
Wednesday, 10 July 2019 
7.00 pm, Committee room 4 
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact: Timothy Andrew (timothy.andrew@lewisham.gov.uk) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio recorded 
and/or filmed. 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2019 

 
3 - 10 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

11 - 14 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
There are none. 
 

 

4.   Children's social care update 
 

15 - 32 

5.   Financial forecasts 2019-20 
 

33 - 60 

6.   Scoping report - commercialisation and culture change in-depth 
review 
 

61 - 74 

7.   Select Committee work programme 
 

75 - 94 

8.   Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Public Accounts Select Committee 
Members 

 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Wednesday, 10 July 2019.  
 
Janet Senior, Acting Chief Executive 

Tuesday, 2 July 2019 
 
  

Councillor Jim Mallory (Chair)  

Councillor Louise Krupski (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Tauseef Anwar  

Councillor Juliet Campbell  

Councillor Patrick Codd  

Councillor Alan Hall  

Councillor Mark Ingleby  

Councillor Paul Maslin  

Councillor Joan Millbank  

Councillor James Rathbone  

Councillor Bill Brown (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Sakina Sheikh (ex-Officio)  

  

   



 

 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS 
SELECT COMMITTEE 
Thursday, 13 June 2019 at 7.00 pm 

 
PRESENT:  Councillors Jim Mallory (Chair), Louise Krupski (Vice-Chair), Patrick Codd, 
Alan Hall, Mark Ingleby, Paul Maslin and James Rathbone 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Tauseef Anwar, Juliet Campbell and Joan Millbank 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Timothy Andrew (Scrutiny Manager), David Austin (Head of Corporate 
Resources), Stephanie Fleck (Principal Lawyer), Katharine Nidd (Strategic Procurement 
and Commercial Services Manager) (LBL) and Selwyn Thompson (Head of Financial 
Services) 
 
1. Minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2019 

 
1.1 It was noted that officers had received directions from the Mayor on the 

appointment of an additional Director for the Catford Regeneration 
Partnership Limited. The Committee urged that this should happen forthwith. 
It was also noted that an update on the memorandum of understanding 
requested by the Committee on the relationship between CRPL and the 
Council would be presented to the Committee at its next meeting. It was also 
reported that the Committee’s referral to Sustainable Development Select 
Committee had been received – and that further scrutiny on the issues raised 
would take place in July. 

 
1.2 Resolved: that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May be agreed as an 

accurate record. 
 

2. Declarations of interest 
 
2.1 Councillor Ingleby declared a non-prejudicial interest in relation to item five 

as a Director of Lewisham Homes. 
2.2 Councillor Mallory declared a non-prejudicial interest in relation to item five 

as a member of the board of governors of Abbey Manor pupil referral unit. 
 

3. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 
3.1 There were none. 
 

4. Income generation and commercialisation 
 
4.1 Katherine Nidd (Strategic Procurement and Commercial Services Manager) 

introduced the report, the following key points were noted: 

 Work was taking place to implement the income generation strategy. 

 The model presented in the report identified the importance of key 
enablers for change. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

 
 
 

2 

 Information had also been provided in the appendix from the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny – about the role that scrutiny could play in income 
generation. 

 The report highlighted the importance of leadership in bringing about 
change. 

 The income board had a key role to play in delivery of the ambitions in the 
income generation strategy. 

 All areas of the Council that were seeking to generate income needed to 
be customer focused. The focus on customers could also support the 
pursuit of social value. 

 Officers would seek further leadership from the Committee about the 
potential for culture change at the Council. 

 New appointments had been made to support this work. The new starters 
were highly skilled and had a strong track record of innovation and 
excellence. 

 
4.2 Katherine Nidd responded to questions from the Committee, the following 

key points were noted: 

 Work had previously been carried out to review the service level 
agreements for schools and for housing services. In carrying out that 
work, the model for analysing costs had been improved. 

 Discussions had been held with Kent County Council about their 
commercial agency for social workers. This was a relatively high-level 
discussion because of the commercially sensitive nature of the 
information. 

 Kent had established partnerships with a number of authorities. These 
partnerships ranged from taking an advisory role to setting up full joint 
ventures. 

 There were differences between the way the London authorities operated 
and the operations of large country councils. 

 One of the key differences was that county councils covered a large 
geographic area – whereas agency workers in London were likely to be 
more geographically mobile. 

 Kent had not given any information about the authorities they were 
working with in London. 

 No information had been shared about the structure of the agency 
service. Full consideration would need to be given to the form a company 
in Lewisham might take. 

 Lewisham had a memorandum of understanding with other London 
boroughs to manage the cost of agency social workers – which had 
mitigated some previous problems in recruitment and contained costs. 

  The Council currently had a contract with Reed to provide agency 
services. When the contract expired, full consideration would be given to 
the other options for delivering the service (which could include the option 
to set up an in-house agency) – as with all major contracts. 

 The income board met every eight weeks. There was an item on the 
agenda for the Executive Management Team every three months to 
discuss proposals for income generation and procurement. 

Page 4



 

 
 
 

3 

 Key decisions – including those related to fees and charges – were 
decided by Mayor and Cabinet. Any proposals for projects would be 
subject to the usual decision making processes. 

 Consideration was being given to creating income generation champions 
for each of the relevant areas. 

 A flowchart of key processes was included in the income generation 
strategy. 

 
4.3 The Committee also considered the final report of its strategic income 

generation and commercialisation review – as well as proposals (attached to 
the minutes) from Councillor Krupski regarding the next stage of the 
Committee’s scrutiny of this issue, the following key points were noted: 

 There was an urgent need for the Council to change its culture in order to 
become more commercially minded. 

 The right governance structures also needed to be in place to ensure that 
change could happen. 

 The questions proposed by Councillor Krupski should form the basis of 
future reports on this issue. 

 Consideration would need to be given to commercial projects on a case 
by case basis. 

 The changing culture of the Council might also facilitate more interaction 
between councillors and officers at all levels. 

 The Director of Organisation Development and Human Resources was 
working on updating Lewisham’s people management approach: ‘the 
Lewisham Way’. Members might want to hear from the Director about 
plans for the future. 

 Proactive and positive leadership was of central importance to building 
and changing culture. 

 A member development session could be held for councillors about 
potential future options for income generation. 

 The Committee would welcome some examples of possible income 
generation projects (particularly those for commercialisation) laid out in a 
clear format. This might form the basis of a communications strategy for 
stakeholders. 

 
4.4 David Austin (Acting Chief Finance Officer) responded to comments made by 

the Committee, the following key points were noted: 

 Income generation comprised of three parts: fees and charges; traded 
services and new ventures. 

 There were examples of initiatives carried out by the Council in each of 
these areas. 

 The Council had not tended to become involved in new ventures – and 
where it had the benefits that accrued were in social value rather than 
financial. An example was the investment being made in affordable 
housing. 

 A significant proportion of the ‘cuts’ proposals over the past few years had 
in fact been proposals for income generation. The majority of this was 
from fees and charges. 

 A forthcoming National Audit Office report would likely be critical of local 
authority investment in commercial property. 

Page 5



 

 
 
 

4 

  
4.5  Resolved: that the recommendations of the strategic income generation and 

commercialisation review be agreed and referred to Mayor and Cabinet. It 
was also agreed that the report and Councillor Krupski’s proposals would 
form the basis of a scoping report for an in-depth review of commercialisation 
and cultural change. 

 
5. Financial results 2018-19 

 
5.1 Selwyn Thompson (Director of Financial Services) introduced the report and 

highlighted budget pressures in key areas. 
 
5.2 Selwyn Thompson and David Austin responded to questions from the 

Committee, the following key points were noted: 

 Concerns had been raised by some service managers about their 
capacity to use the Oracle financial system. This was particularly the case 
in areas of the Council that employed significant numbers of agency staff 
because the system required more data input for payments than had 
previously been the case. 

 There was a mismatch between the operational costs of the youth service 
and its contract value. 

 As part of the mutualisation of the youth service (in 2015) there was an 
expectation that the new organisation would be able to access funding 
and grants that were not available for Council services. This had not been 
the case. 

 However, the service had increased the number of young people it 
provided services for. It had also reduced its overhead costs. 

 There was additional pressure on the budget due to the withdrawal of a 
Government grant for youth services. 

 Future options were currently being considered for the contract. This 
would involve re-working assumptions about the budget. 

 Increases in budgets for services would have to be met through either 
cuts from other services or by drawing on reserves. 

 Measures were being taken to manage overspending in the children and 
young people directorate budget. 

 A pantomime had been held in the Broadway theatre for the first time in a 
number of years. It had not been as successful as expected, which 
resulted in a significant loss. 

 Three years ago investment had been made in new refuse vehicles. It 
was intended that this would solve the problem of overspending. The 
service still requires hire vehicles and an additional refuse round had 
been added. 

 Work was also ongoing to use capital expenditure to buy vehicles to 
replace the use of hire vehicles and the associated costs. 

 Further information would be provided about the replacement of refuse 
vehicles in future budget monitoring reports. 

 Underspend on the One Public Estate programme was a timing issue. 
The Council was still committed to delivering the programme. 

 There was no indication in January that there would be an overspend in 
the Lewisham Homes repairs and maintenance budget. 

Page 6



 

 
 
 

5 

 Officers could not confirm that the overspend was due to the performance 
of Lewisham Homes’ repairs and maintenance contractor. 

 The figures in the report had been provided earlier than usual. It was 
possible that part of the sum for repairs and maintenance might have 
been intended to be capital, rather than revenue spending. 

 Lewisham Homes had a significant annual spend on repairs and 
maintenance with a programme which would be delivered over a number 
of years – it was possible that the spending this year would be offset in 
another. 

 There had been no previous indication that Lewisham Homes was 
overspending its repairs and maintenance budget. 

 One of the big shortfalls in the capital budget was as a result of the 
housing matters programme. 

 A capital programme budget had also been set aside for the 
redevelopment of Catford Town Centre. 

 There had been some revaluations and some movements in the Council’s 
stated positon on its reserves. 

 The level of the Council’s unearmarked reserves had been increased by 
£7m – from £13m to £20m. 

 Earmarked reserves had reduced from £160m to £148m. Within the 
earmarked reserves there were various movements. Allocations in some 
areas (such as the PFI sinking funds) had increased and although some 
of the reserves had been released to cover the overspend in the 2018-19 
budget - the Council was spending in line with its plans. 

 
5.3 In Committee discussions, the following key points were also noted: 

 Members highlighted the need for service managers to understand levels 
of spending in their services – in order to ensure that problems could be 
foreseen – and appropriate management action taken. 

 Members questioned the way in which budgets were set for services. 
Examples were given of services that continually appeared to overspend  
in consecutive years. 

 There were specific concerns about the way in which the budget had 
been set for children and young people’s services. 

 The new Executive Director for Community Services would be invited to 
the next meeting of the Committee. It was acknowledged that he was new 
to the role – so he would also be invited to provide a more comprehensive 
update to the Committee on the finances of adult social care in the 
autumn. 

 Members noted the additional funding that had been made available for 
adult social care through the Better Care Fund and questioned whether 
action was still being taken to manage pressures and control costs. 

 Examples were given of issues with the management and operation of 
Lewisham’s leisure centres. 

 Members questioned the processes in place for managing and enforcing 
contracts. 

 It was noted that a recent report had been considered by the Healthier 
Communities Select Committee about the management and operation of 
the leisure centres contract. 

Page 7



 

 
 
 

6 

 There were differences of opinion about future options for the Broadway 
theatre. Some Members felt it was difficult to make it work as a 
commercial venture, others expressed the importance of the theatre as a 
key part of Catford’s future cultural offer. 

 There was significant concern about the overspend in the housing 
revenue account repairs and maintenance budget for Lewisham Homes. 

 Members noted concerns that had been expressed about Lewisham 
Homes’ repairs and maintenance subcontractor. 

 Members highlighted the discrepancy in the budgeted and the actual 
spending of capital programme resources. 

 It was noted that the Committee’s proposal to Overview and Scrutiny 
Business Panel – that all select committees should give additional 
consideration to budgetary issues- had been agreed. 

 Members expressed their continued concerns about the viability of the 
children and young people’s budget. 

 
5.4 Resolved: that the report be noted. That additional information should be 

provided about the funding being made available for dilapidation works on 
leisure centre buildings. The Chair also agreed to give further consideration 
to scrutiny of the issue of leisure centres management – in consultation with 
the Chair of Overview of Scrutiny. 

 
6. Medium term financial strategy 

 
6.1 David Austin (Acting Chief Finance Officer) introduced the report, the 

following key points were noted: 

 The assumption had been made that the Council’s grant would continue 
to be reduced by the government (in line with the trajectory that funding 
had been on for the past seven years). 

 It was also assumed that business rates growth would continue to grow – 
although at less than inflation due to pressures in the sector. 

 It was assumed that the Council would continue to increase Council tax. 
Projections for housing growth had been taken from the planning 
numbers. 

 It was anticipated that funding would need to be made available over a 
number of years to manage pressures in the children and young people’s 
directorate budget. 

 The assumptions enabled officers to project the cuts required in the 
coming years. For 2020-21 the projection was £12m. This figure was 
expected to increase in the following year – before reducing thereafter. 
Over the four years from 2021-22 the potential requirement for cuts could 
be £50m. The initial focus was on delivering the £12m for 2020-21. 

 There was still a high level of uncertainty about the position central 
government would take on future funding for local authorities. 

 There were a number of decisions due to be made by the current 
Government (including the comprehensive spending review) that would 
have a significant impact on the Council’s medium term finances. 

 The Better Care Fund had alleviated some of the problems in adult social 
care – it was anticipated that action would be taken to manage pressures 
in children’s social care. 

Page 8



 

 
 
 

7 

 If the current trajectory of spending for local government continued – a 
significant number of local authorities would be unable to balance their 
budgets. 

 The Council would be in a strong position (with a good level of reserves) 
to make future decisions – as long as it delivered the cuts it had already 
agreed and tackled the £12m required for the coming year. 

 The cuts programme was currently being developed. Service managers 
were being asked to demonstrate how their service compared with other 
local authorities in terms of cost. 

 Questions were also being asked about which services required 
investment to enable improvement. 

 
6.2 David Austin responded to questions from the Committee, the following key 

points were noted: 

 Work could be done to develop projections of future volumes of activity 
and spending in service areas. However, it would be difficult to match this 
to additional allocation of reserves because this could create the sense 
that current spending and practice had no need to improve. 

 Good social work practice was more cost effective because it enabled 
early intervention and reduced escalation. 

 Schools were having a real terms cash reduction in their budgets. A 
number were trying to work their way through deficit plans. There 
remained a risk to the Council from a breakdown in a school’s budgeting 
processes. 

 The Council had £60m of usable reserves. Additional information would 
be provided for members. 

 
6.3 In Committee discussions, the following key point was also noted: 

 Members were concerned about the future challenges facing the Council. 
There was a request that members of the Council’s Executive should 
make more public statements about the future financial position of the 
Council. 

 
6.4 Resolved: that the report be noted. That further information should be 

provided when there was more certainty about spending by government. 
 

7. Select Committee work programme 
 
7.1 Resolved: that the items for the Committee’s meeting on 10 July would be: 

an introduction to the Executive Director for Community Services; an update 
on the financial position of children’s social care; and a scoping report for the 
next phase of the Committee’s income generation and commercialisation 
review. 

 
8. Referrals to Mayor and Cabinet 

 
8.1 Resolved: that the Committee’s income generation and commercialisation 

report be referred to Mayor and Cabinet for consideration. 
 
The meeting ended at 9.55 pm 

Page 9



 

 
 
 

8 

 
 
Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 10



Public Accounts Select Committee 

Title Declaration of interests 

Contributor Chief Executive Item 2 

Class Part 1 (open) 2019-20 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 
 
1. Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct: 
 
(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2) Other registerable interests 
(3) Non-registerable interests 

 
2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain 

 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
 

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough;  

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



(b) and either 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
3.  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 

purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 

 
4. Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

  
5.  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 

Page 12



consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies. 

 
(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 

disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
7. Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e) Ceremonial honours for members 
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Public Accounts Select Committee 

Report Title Update on Children’s Social Care Budget 

Key decision No  

Ward All 

Contributors Executive Director of Children and Young People 

 

Class  Part 1  10th July 2019 

 

1. Summary of the Report  

1.1 This report provides an update, briefing and information on the financial position of 

Children’s Social Care (CSC).  It describes how the budget is made up and explains the 

demands and cost drivers.  It then goes on to describe the action which is in train to 

address the current overspend.  It also describes the trends in these together with the 

impact to date of the CSC Improvement Programme 

  

2. Recommendations 

  

2.1 The Public Accounts Select Committee is recommended to note and comment on the 

report.  

 

3. Policy Context 

3.1 One of the priorities in the Council’s Corporate Strategy is “Giving children and young 
people the best start in life - every child has access to an outstanding and inspiring education 
and is given the support they need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full 
potential. “ 

 
3.2 Children Social Care contributes to the Children and Young People’s Plan 2019-2022 and 

its priorities. 

3.3 Reporting financial results in a clear and meaningful format contributes directly to the 

council’s aims to ensure transparency, efficiency, effectiveness and equity. 

4. Budget headlines 

4.1 In 2018/19, the CSC budget had an outturn of £50.3m on a budget of £43.4m showing an 

overspend of £6.9m.  This was as projected throughout the financial year and reflected a 

programme of works to stabilise the budget and to recalibrate it to be closer to reflecting 

the required activity in the Directorate.    The reduction in budget ‘overspend’ from 2017/18 

(outturn was £50.5m on a budget of £37.9m i.e £12.6m) reflects the application of 

additional funding to establish the CSC budget at a realistic level with an additional £6m 

to support Placement costs.   In 2019/20, the budget is £46.8m including additional funding 

(Placements additional £3m and Staff salaries £4m).   The 2019/20 budget also reflects 

savings agreed on the placements budget of £1.5m, with a similar level of savings planned 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



for 2020/21.  As at May 2019, the CSC budget is projected to be on track to meet its 

targets, including the savings of £1.5m on placements. It should be noted that the 

projection in May 2019 is achievable only if a  forecast underspend in the No Recourse To 

Public Funds  continues to net off the overspend in the following service areas: Section 

17, Legal Fees and LAC Additional Costs (the cost of Family Support assessments and 

Supervision of contacts). 

4.2 Over the last nine years, the Council has undertaken a major budget reduction programme 

to manage the difficult financial challenge it has faced.  In the period 2010/11 to 2019/20, 

the Council has implemented cuts of £174m, with work is underway to identify and deliver 

a further £12m by 2021.  The Children and Young People’s (CYP) Directorate represents 

approximately 22% of the total General Fund budget across the Council.  For its part, 

Children Social Care (CSC) makes up 79% of the CYP budget and 19% of the total 

General Fund spend across the Council.  

4.4 In 2010/11, the CYP budget was £76.4m and through the period of the government’s 

austerity programme, it has been reduced to £53.5m, a reduction of £22.9m or 30%. The 

cuts attributable to CSC since 2010 are shown below; 

 £m 

2010/11 0.2 

2011/12 3.6 

2012/13 0.3 

2013/14 0.5 

2014/15 0.3 

2015/16 4.2 

2016/17 1.4 

2017/18 3.3 

2018/19 0.7 

 14.5 

 
In 2018/19 and 2019/20, the CSC budget has been increased to rectify the historic 
structural overspend. 

 
4.5 Table below shows the Outturn against budget for Lewisham over the last 5 years. 
 

CSC(including NRTPF)  
Year Outturn Budget Variance 

 £m £m £m 

2014/15 57.6 46.8 10.8 

2015/16 50.3 43.9 6.4 

2016/17 48.2 41.9 6.3 

2017/18 50.4 37.9 12.5 

2018/19 50.3 43.4 6.9 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 16



5. The areas of pressure for CSC spend 
 

5.1 Placements of looked after children 
 

The placement budget for looked after children had an outturn of £31.2m on a budget of 
£28.7m in 2018/19, in line with forecasts.   In 2019/20 the budget is £30m (incorporating 
a budget cut of £1.5m as well as the additional funding allocated) and is currently forecast 
to spend in line with budget.  In 2018/19 there was an average of 488 looked after children 
for the year.  In 2019/20, the numbers have reduced slightly, projecting an average of 470 
for the year.  This budget funds foster and residential placements for Lewisham’s looked 
after children.   
 

5.2 CSC staffing budget 
 

The CSC staffing budget, which funds social workers, their managers and business 
support had an outturn of £16.7m on a budget of £12.6m in 2018/19 in line with forecasts.   
In 2019/20 the staffing budget is £16.6m and spending is projected to be in line with 
budget.    

 
6. National and London context  

 

6.1 National underfunding of Children Social Care  

 

In January 2019, the National Audit Office reported that nationally there was a £872m 

shortfall in CSC budgets (£108m for London).   They also reported that 91% of councils 

were overspending on CSC in 2017/18.   The report also noted that nationally the looked 

after children population had gone up by 15%, compared with general population growth 

of 5%.   In London, CSC spend has increased by £50m between 2014/15 and 2017/18 – 

a 5% increase.   During this period, the average overspend in London increased from 6% 

to 9%.   This situation has not received the popular attention which spending on adult 

social care has but it has been the subject of representations to central government from 

the LGA and the Association of Directors of Children’s Services.  With Ofsted’s demanding 

regulatory regime, expectations of children’s services have never been higher, yet many 

of the non-statutory preventative services have been eroded since the beginning of the 

austerity programme.  DfE figures show that in the 10 years from 2006 to 2016, the number 

of child protection enquiries nationally increased from 72,000 to 172,000.  

  

A recent report commissioned by London Councils says that their research indicated that 

“children’s social care budgets were often set historically and may not have responded to 

changes in the population or need over time”.   … Analysis of the data suggests that 

councils with both high and low per capita budgets are equally likely to be overspent and 

that there is no discernible correlation with the degree of overspend and whether per capita 

expenditure is below or above average or has increased or decreased over the period.” 

 

7.0 Is Lewisham a high spender on CSC? 

7.1 The only available comparative information is from the Section 251 return.   The analysis 

 below shows comparison with Lewisham’s statistical neighbours.  The spend is per head 

 of population 0 to 17 so is adjusted for population.  The table below shows that Lewisham 

Page 17



 is not a high spender – slightly above average for spend on children looked after but low 

 on spend on children’s social care staffing and associated costs.   

S251 comparison of CSC spend 2018/19 

Area of 
spend 

£ spend per 
child in 
population 

R
a
n

k
 o

u
t 

o
f 

1
1

 

A
v
e
ra

g
e

 

L
a
m

b
e
th

 

C
ro

y
d

o
n

 

H
a
ri

n
g

e
y

 

H
a
c
k
n

e
y

 

W
a
lt

h
a
m

 

F
o

re
s
t 

S
o

u
th

w
a
rk

 

E
n

fi
e
ld

 

B
re

n
t 

G
re

e
n

w
ic

h
 

Is
li
n

g
to

n
 

 
Lewisham 

            

Children 
looked 
after 

368 6 346 440 253 479 315 330 580 203 203 440 586 

Safeguard
ing 
children 
(incl 
social 
workers 

152 8 193 340 326 134 301 177 205 103 152 235 454 

  

The functions and activities of Children Social Care  

7.2 Statutory basis 

7.2.1 Children’s Social Care operates under a set of legislation and statutory guidance, the main 

pillars of which are: 

 The Children Act 1989 which imposes a statutory duty on local authorities to 

safeguard children in their area 

 The London Child Protection Procedures 2016 which have been adopted by all 

London councils and Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs)  

 Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018.   This provides a national framework 

and core requirements which agencies and professionals must satisfy in order to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children.   

7.3 Key functions of CSC 

7.3.1 Early help  

Early help means taking action to support a child, young person or their family early in the 

life of a problem, as soon as it emerges.  It can be required at any stage in a child’s life 

from pre-birth to adulthood and applies to any problem or need that the family cannot deal 

with or meet on their own.  It is to meet this wide definition that the council commissions 

family support and children’s centres in particular but a wide range of other services 

provided by the council and its partners also count as early help although (as in councils 

across the country) the range and quantum of this has been eroded during the austerity 

period.  The council and its partners must ensure that children and families who do not 

meet the threshold for social care intervention are offered and indeed take up and benefit 

from early help.  CSC is also expected to ‘step down’ cases which no longer need a social 

Page 18



worker but where some vulnerabilities remain to early help services.  Early Help is part of 

the Ofsted’s focus in its current inspection arrangements for CSC. 

 

Early help provision is currently being reviewed in Lewisham.   This is the subject of regular 

reports to CYP Select Committee and is linked with the budget making process as it relates 

to the few parts of General Fund spend in the CYP budget which are non-statutory.   

7.3.2 Child protection 

 

7.3.2.1 A local authority’s powers and duties to safeguard children are defined in the Children Acts 

of 1989 and 2004. Two core elements of the 1989 Act are Section 17 and 47. Section 17 

imposes a general duty on every local authority to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children in need of local authority services within their area. 

 

7.3.2.2 Section 47 defines the authority’s duty, in partnership with other agencies, to initiate 

enquiries if they become aware that a child in their locality is suffering or is likely to suffer 

significant harm. If, following or during the course of assessment, concerns about a child’s 

safety are identified, local authority social workers should convene a strategy 

discussion/meeting with the police and others to decide whether to undertake an enquiry 

under Section 47 and any associated action to protect the child. 

 

7.3.2.3 Within the 2004 Act, Section 11 requires local authorities and partner organisations with 

responsibility for the care and well-being of children to co-operate. This includes health, 

police, probation and youth offending teams. Schools and the voluntary sector are 

encouraged to work in partnership with local authorities to plan and deliver services 

tailored to the needs of the child. 

 

7.3.2.4 In addition, the 2004 Act requires all children’s services’ authorities to appoint a Director 

for Children’s Services (DCS) and a Lead Member for Children’s Services (LMCS).  

Legislation last year changed the requirement to have an Local Safeguarding Children’s 

Board and the council (with local partners) is implementing the new model within the same 

budget envelope as it certainly will not cost less than current arrangements.         

 

7.4 Looked after children 

7.4.1 There are several ways that a child or young person can become looked 
after by the local authority 

 
 A parent can request that their child is looked after or “accommodated” by the local 

authority under Section 20 of the Children Act 1989 
 The police can take a child under Police Protection for 72 hours 
 The local authority can be so concerned about a child that they decide to apply for 

an Emergency Protection Order which also lasts for 72 hours 
 The local authority can decide to implement care proceedings if the threshold for 

this has been met.  
 The court may decide to award an Interim Care Order whilst further investigations 

are continued which may lead to the granting of a Care order. 
 The Courts can remand a child into the care of the local authority in criminal matters 

Page 19



 In exceptional cases, the local authority can apply for a Secure order under Section 
25 of the Children Act 1989 

 
7.4.2 When a care order is made, the local authority acquires parental responsibility and 

becomes a legal parent with associated duties alongside the parent/ guardian.  Looked 

after children are placed at the expense of the local authority in foster placements or in 

exceptional circumstances, residential placements. Other types of care include adoption, 

kinship care with extended family and special guardianship arrangements.  Looked after 

children become Care Leavers at age 18 and following recent legislation, the council has 

responsibility for them up to age 25.  

7.4.3 Foster placements are either with in-house foster parents who are recruited by the Council 

or by placing a child with an external agency who employs foster parents and then sells 

out the placements to local authorities. These are known as Independent Fostering 

Agencies (IFAs).   

7.5  Adoption/Special Guardianship Order 

7.5.1 A Special Guardianship Order (SGO) is an order appointing one or more individuals to be 
a child's 'special guardian'. It is intended for those children who cannot live with their birth 
parents and who would benefit from a legally secure placement.  Usually SGOs place 
children with grandparents, other close family or family friends.   They are increasingly 
used by the courts, sometimes even if the local authority considers that the child should 
be placed for adoption.  The local authority is expected to provide financial support for the 
placement under a local policy which meets legislative requirements.   

7.6 Section 17 

7.6.1 A ‘Child in Need’ is defined under the Children Act 1989 as a child who is unlikely to 

achieve or maintain a satisfactory level of health or development, or their health and 

development will be significantly impaired, without the provision of services; or a child who 

is disabled.  

 

7.6.2 For children who are disabled, assessments are carried out by the Children with Complex 

Needs Team and packages of care may be given, where appropriate linking up as part of 

a holistic package of support with education and health.   

 

7.6.3 For children whose parents present as destitute and/or intentionally homeless it may also 

be necessary for a social work assessment and may require support to be given in kind, 

by providing accommodation or cash.   

7.7  Ofsted inspection regime 

7.7.1 Ofsted inspects and regulates services that care for children and young people, and 

services providing education and skills for learners of all ages. 

 

7.7.2 Ofsted inspects Local Authority Children Services and the Local Safeguarding Children 

Board under its powers in accordance with section 152 of the Education and Inspections 

Act 2006. 

 

Page 20



7.7.3 Lewisham was last subject to a full inspection of our CSC Department in November 2015, 

with the report published in February 2016.  We received a Focussed Visit under the new 

Inspection Framework in September 2018. This is a form of ‘mini inspection’ reported via 

a letter rather than a graded report.   It focused on our front door and MASH arrangements, 

given that this was the main area for action following our 2015 inspection and 

recommended improvements to systems, processes, quality assurance and performance 

management (all of which had been identified in our self-assessment).  Based on current 

arrangements Lewisham would expect to receive a further inspection under the new 

ILACS regime before the end of 2019.   

 

7.7.4 All aspects of Children’s Social Care fall under the Ofsted regulatory regime and in effect 

this regime sets standards which the council is required to adhere to.  The local authority 

is not free (as with some council services) simply to ‘cut its coat according to its cloth’ but 

rather is expected to provide a service that meets requirements, not just keeping children 

safe but ensuring good outcomes in a holistic way across children’s services.  If an Ofsted 

inspection finds (as in a number of London boroughs) that standards are not met and the 

services are graded ‘Inadequate’, the Council is required to rectify this, with a high degree 

of scrutiny from the DfE, or risks CSC being removed from Council control. 

8. The Children’s Social Care Improvement Programme 

8.1 The CSC Improvement Programme began in its current form in September 2018, following 

 a series of reviews in spring and summer 2018 which identified that the pace of change in 

 the improvement of CSC needed to be quicker.   Ofsted agreed with our self-assessment 

 during their focused visit in September 2018.   

8.2 Since the Improvement Plan was revised and the Improvement Board was introduced, the 

 pace of change has significantly increased.  Real progress has been made to rebuild the 

 infrastructure and create the right conditions for good social work to thrive.  Key 

 improvements made between July and December 2018 were referenced in an in-depth 

 annual self-assessment conducted in January 2019.  This was then updated in June 2019 

 ahead of the Executive Director’s Annual Engagement with our linked Ofsted HMI.    

8.3 The strategic goals of the Improvement Plan are set out below.   In their different ways, all 

 improvement strands contribute to stabilising and controlling the budget, but those around 

 workforce, commissioning and resources are especially relevant 

 

Page 21



 

9. What has the CSC Improvement Programme Achieved?   

 Since September 2018, the CSC Improvement Programme has achieved major service 

 changes, the financial impact being the stabilisation of the budget.   The table below 

 summarises the areas of action.   There is still a large programme of work progressing as 

 this is a two year programme running to September 2020.    

 
What we have done Why we have done it When 

A review of the placements and 
commissioning function. 

 
Sufficiency Strategy drafted. 

Increased range and number of in-house 
foster care placements, more options to 
place Children Looked After locally in 
family based setting. Manage the market 
of independent providers and 
commissioned placements for reduced 
placement costs.  Reduce reliance on 
residential placements 

Started 
Jul 2018 

 
Q1 2019 

Senior Management Alerts introduced Senior Management Team better sighted on 
high risk cases 

Aug 2018 

The revised supervision framework, 
recording template and accompanying 
caseload management guidance was 
revised and re-issued 

Promote reflective supervision, aligned to 
Signs of Safety practice framework. 
Manage caseloads to promote 
relationship based social work. 

Q3 2018 

Business Support arrangements across 
the service were reviewed. 

Plan to increase business support (within 
budget envelope) to better help enable 
social workers to spend more time with 

Q3 & Q4 
2018/19 

Page 22



children and families. 

Performance data scrutiny clinics and 
SMT scrutiny cycle introduced. 
Performance data strategy created. 

Increase the breadth, depth and accuracy 
of performance information and how it is 
used to drive practice and service planning 

Q3 & 4 
2018/19 

An additional layer of management i.e. 
Group Managers, were recruited 

To strengthen management oversight and 
increase strategic capacity. 

Started 
Nov 2018 

Monthly CSC newsletters introduced 
Manager Breakfast Briefings, all staff 
conference held 

Improve communication and increase staff 
engagement in service developments 

Nov 2018 
Jun 2019 

Quality Assurance Framework (QAF) 
revised and re-launched. Including: 
 Bi-annual ‘Listening & Learning’ events 

 quarterly learning reports 

 revised audit formats (Signs of Safety) 

 Open days for members and partners 

Strengthen scrutiny and accountability to 
better understand the quality and impact 
of services and plan strategic 
improvements and workforce 
development 

Dec 2018 

Re-design programme to improve the 
Liquidlogic Children’s Recording System 
(LCS & EHM) 

Reduce bureaucracy, simplify convoluted 
systems, to increase capacity for more 
direct work with children and families 

Started 
Dec 2018 

SMT introduced a routine cycle of 
management meetings for business, 
workforce, finance and scrutiny of PQA 

Increase management oversight and 
strengthen strategic leadership 

Started 
Dec 2018 

New business process for the MASH 
introduced. 

Address issues identified in self- 
assessment & Ofsted focused visit 

Go live 
Jan 2019 

LSCB redrafted the threshold 
continuum of need 

Consistency with the rest of London and 
clarification thresholds for partners 

Jan 2019 

The terms of reference for four key 
decision making and case monitoring 
panels were refreshed and re-launched. 

Provide better scrutiny, oversight of 
practice and consistency of decision 
making. 

Jan 2019 

Signs of Safety (SoS) practice 
framework implementation started 

Establish shared practice approach aligned 
with vision and values 

Started 
Jan 2019 

A dedicated senior Principal Social 
Worker started in post. Transition of 
Advanced Practitioners to create 
Workforce Development Team 

Lead on developing stronger workforce 
development offer linked to 
professional standards & lead on SoS 
implementation 

Started 
Jan 2019 
May 2019 

Partners in Practice arrangement 
agreed with Islington – professional 
training and development focus 

Assist delivery of improvement 
programme and strengthen 
training and development offer, 
with focus on Team Managers 

Feb 2019 

Delegated decision making matrix 
drafted and introduced. 

Clarity of management responsibilities and 
delegated authority. 

Q1 
2019/20 

Page 23



Adjustments made to the 19/20 CSC 
budget agreed by Mayor & Cabinet 
(Feb19) 

 
In light of this, the staffing structure 
was reviewed to realign resources to 
target the right children, young people 
and families and develop specialist 
practice across the service. 

Enable the development of: 
(a) dedicated Leaving Care Service, 
(b) adolescent safeguarding team (Safe 

Space Team) 
(c) permanent Group Manager layer 
(d) enhanced business support 
(e) academy for CPD and NQSWs. 
(f) creation of stronger family support, 
edge of care offer & specialist posts/teams 
e.g. DV, FGC, PAUSE 

 

Mar 2019 
July 2019 
 
July 2019 
Q2 2019 
May 2019 

 

Q3 & 4 
2019/20 

Budget coding review and restructure Provide managers with the tools to 
enable oversight and grip of finances. 

Q4 & Q1 

Corporate Parenting Group self- 
assessment, review of effectiveness 
and new forward plan developed 

Strengthen and promote Corporate 
Parenting responsibilities, across the 
council and voice of CLA in service 
design 

Q4 & Q1 

Transition from LSCB to new 
partnership arrangements developed 

As required by changes in legislation Q4 & Q1 

Transition of Adoption to RAA planned As required by changes in legislation Q4 & Q1 

Tracking systems put in place for 
complaints and FOIs. Learning from 
complaints now fed into QA reports 

Improve responsiveness to families, 
strengthen management oversight. 
Enhanced use of service user feedback for 
learning and practice improvement. 

Q4 2019 

Refurbished office and improvements 
in hardware for agile working – laptops 

Improve staff morale, positive 
contribution to retention and greater 
working agility and efficiency. 

Feb 2019 

Transfer process revised x2 (Plan to 
introduce new transfer panel in July 19) 

Minimise delays and ensure good quality 
transitions between workers and teams. 

Q1 & Q4 

Service wide appraisal targets linked to 
the KSS set for 2019/20 

To encourage management discussions 
about performance, identify areas for 
practice improvement. Set practice 
expectations, embed Vision, Values & KSS 

Jun 2019 

Recruitment campaign for Senior 
Managers (Group Managers & HOS) 

Stabilise leadership team to take forward 
improvement programme. 

Jun 2019 

Page 24



10. The CSC Workforce 

10.1 A large piece of work was completed in 2018/19 to rebaseline the CSC staffing 

 and to have a clear establishment.   This is now being maintained on an ongoing 

 basis to enable managers to adjust this to ensure that the right staffing 

 resources are in the right place and to monitor spend.   The staffing structure is 

 as follows: 

 

Across the whole service, we have the following staffing: 
 

WORKFORCE - 24 
May 2019 

MASH 
&   
Assess- 
ment 

Children 
with 
Complex 
Needs 

 
Family 
Social 
Work 

LAC 
Adoption 
Leaving 
Care 

 
Fostering 
&     
Placemnts 

 

Quality 
Assurance 

 
 

 
SMT 

 
 

 
LSCB 

 

 
TOTAL 

exclude

s 
BSO 

(FTE) 

Total no. of posts 93 24 81 69 34 35 3 3 342 

No. perm staff 63 15 55 59 23 24 2 3 244 

% perm staff 67.7% 62.5% 67.9% 85.5% 67.6% 68.6% 66.7% 100.0% 71.3% 

Vacancies 30 9 26 10 11 11 1 0 98 

Agency staff 26 8 27 14 6 9 1 0 91 

Unfilled vacancies 4 1 -1 -4 5 2 0 0 7 

Turnover (April 19) 1.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

 

10.2 As at May 2019 71% of our workforce is permanent, a 4% improvement from 
 January 2019. The majority of vacancies are filled by agency staff which enables 
 us to manage reasonable caseloads.  Our rate of agency social workers is 12th 
 out of the London boroughs – so ‘mid-table’ and we aim to be top quartile.    
 

10.3 Our workload management guide specifies how many children should be 
 allocated to Officers. Since October we have consistently managed 
 caseloads at the agreed levels for Children with Complex Needs, Family 
 Social Work and Children Looked After services.  Caseloads for Personal 
 Advisors were too high in January, introduction of the dedicated Care 
 Leaver Service in March has enabled us to bring down caseloads down to 
 manageable levels. The impact of threshold decision making changes in the 
 MASH since May has had an impact on the Assessment service caseloads, 

Education 

Children with 

Complex 

Needs 

Needs 

Page 25



 which we are now reviewing for the best way to manage. 
 

Average 
caseloads 

Assessment 
Children with 

Complex Needs 
Family 
Social Work 

Looked 
After 

Adoption/ 
Permanence 

Care 
Leavers 

Q1 2019 20 11 15 14 7 21 

Source : Caseload performance data from end of each month. (Excludes part time & early NQSW’s with reduced 

caseloads) 

10.4 In order achieve a standard of social work practice which would be judged good 

 by Ofsted, the expectation is that social worker caseloads are management and 

 there is sufficient management oversight.   The research and surveys on the 

 key factors that attract and retain social workers highlight:  comparable pay, 

 workforce development opportunities, stable management and reasonable 

 caseloads.  If these issues are not given due attention, there will be increased 

 staff turnover and vacancies which have to be filled with higher cost agency 

 staff.   The impact on children is that they experience more changes of social 

 worker and a poorer service.   The weaker the practice system, the more likely 

 it is that children looked after numbers will rise.  We are therefore committed to 

 keeping social worker caseloads at around 15 and the manager to social worker 

 supervisory ratio as a maximum of 1:6.  These figures are commonly agreed as 

 reasonable across the profession.   Our staffing structure has been 

 comprehensively reviewed to ensure that these ratios are in place. 

10.5 All our teams and practitioners are being reviewed and realigned where 

 necessary to ensure our resources are targeting the areas where we can make 

 the best impact. This includes the development of more family support services 

 for families where children who are on the edge of coming into care.  We are 

 however seeking central government innovation grant money to do this, as 

 additional funding is required. E.g. PAUSE and Famly Group Conferences. 

10.6 We have also undertaken a comprehensive review of the finance coding 

 structure to simplify it for budget holders.   This aims to create more 

 transparency and improve the tools to aid financial management.  This includes 

 requesting an upgrade of the COntrocc ICT system that support payments 

 linked to individual casework. 

10.7 Social work regulatory frameworks demand a high degree of record keeping 

 and data inputting, for statutory performance data returns to central 

 government. We are streamlining our internal systems and business processes 

 to try to maximise efficiency.  We are re-designing outdated case recording ICT 

 systems (LCS & EHM). These changes are all aimed at increasing the time that 

 social workers spend with families to deliver good practice and reduce time they 

 spend undertaking bureaucratic tasks which can be more efficiently managed 

 by business support officers.   

10.8 When more time can be given to families directly and better quality practice can 

 being delivered, more children can stay safely with their families and do not 

 need to come into care.  

 

Page 26



 

11. Placements of children looked after 

 Previous reports to PAC identified that while our unit costs of placements was 

 not high in comparison with other boroughs, our numbers of placements were 

 high overall and our use of residential placements and independent fostering 

 agencies (IFAs) was high.   This position in part reflected a national context, 

 with the ADCS and others describing the market for children’s social care 

 placements as ‘broken’, with escalating costs and competition for placements 

 between local authorities.  Our analysis showed however that we are not 

 sufficiently active in developing and supporting the local market for placements 

 and securing best value from the placements we buy. 

11.1 In response to this we have changed our placements processes, introducing 
 more rigorous panel processes, moved the Placements Team into 
 Commissioning and changed our approach to procurement and service 
 monitoring.    We have also adopted a new Fostering Statement of Purpose, a 
 new approach to supporting our foster carers and we have launched our Foster 
 Carer Recruitment Strategy.   This together with the introduction of Signs of 
 Safety and a changed approach to social work has led to a reduction in the 
 numbers of CLA in residential placements and an increased number in in-house 
 foster care.   This is part of a longer term strategy.   
 
11.2 The table below shows that overall the number of placements and the unit costs 
 were reduced during 2018/19.   So far, this trend is continuing in 2019/20.   
 Particularly encouraging is the increase in numbers of children placed with in-
 house foster carers. 
 
See next page 
 

 

Page 27



      Placement Data  Weekly costs         

Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17 Mar-18    Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

Variance 
March to 
2017   

Variance to 
March 2018  

£ £ £ £ £    £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £  £ 

£357 £385 £418 £440 £445  

Local Authority 
Fostering £440 £440 £440 £440 £440 £445 £444 £444 £4  -£1 

£879 £902 £908 £925 £910  Agency Fostering £910 £910 £912 £912 £907 £908 £911 £911 -£14  £1 

£2,901 £3,163 £3,468 £3,782 £3,841  Residential Placement  £3,712 £3,712 £3,636 £3,700 £3,581 £3,936 £3,940 £3,942 £158  £99 

£900 £1,086 £1,047 £1,222 £1,357  Semi-Independent £1,436 £1,436 £1,568 £1,568 £1,644 £1,436 £1,375 £1,346 £153  £18 

N/A N/A   £155 £160  SGO £160 £160 £160 £160 £160 £160 £160 £160 £5  £0 

N/A N/A   £790 £799  Leaving Care 18+ £802 £802 £793 £800 £791 £793 £794 £784 £4  -£5 

£5,037 £5,536 £5,841 £7,314 £7,512  Total £7,460 £7,460 £7,509 £7,580 £7,523 £7,678 £7,624 £7,587 £310  £112 

                  

      Placement Data  

Numbers of children 
placed         

Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17 Mar-18    Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

Variance 
March to 
2017   

Variance to 
March 2018  

                                  

201 208 198 186 176  

Local Authority 
Fostering 193 202 199 200 196 199 199 197 13  23 

194 183 166 171 185  Agency Fostering 192 186 188 188 188 193 197 196 26  12 

51 47 59 61 46  

Residential 
Placement  47 48 50 50 50 50 48 45 -13  2 

38 25 28 30 41   Semi-Independent 46 46 46 44 40 39 38 36 8  -3 

N/A N/A   185 186   SGO 211 211 211 210 210 210 209 209 24  23 

N/A N/A   42 45   Leaving Care 18+ 43 44 45 45 45 46 46 46 4  1 

484 463 451 675 679  Total Placements 732 737 739 737 729 737 737 729 62  58 

                  

      Placement Data  Total Spend (average weekly)       

Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17 Mar-18    Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 

Variance 
March to 
2017   

Variance to 
March 2018  

        £    £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £    £ 

£71,757 £80,080 £82,764 £81,840 £78,320  

Local Authority 
Fostering £84,920 £88,880 £87,560 £88,000 £86,240 £88,555 £88,356 £87,468 £6,516  £10,036 

£170,526 £165,066 £150,728 £158,175 £168,350  Agency Fostering £174,720 £169,260 £171,456 £171,456 £170,516 £175,244 £179,467 £178,556 £21,292  £11,117 

£147,951 £148,661 £204,612 £230,702 £176,686  

Residential 
Placement  £174,464 £178,176 £181,800 £185,000 £179,050 £196,800 £189,120 £177,390 -£41,582  £12,434 

£34,200 £27,150 £29,316 £36,660 £55,637  Semi-Independent £66,056 £66,056 £72,128 £68,992 £65,760 £56,004 £52,250 £48,456 £15,590  -£3,387 

N/A N/A   £28,675 £29,760  SGO £33,760 £33,760 £33,760 £33,600 £33,600 £33,600 £33,440 £33,440 £4,765  £3,680 

N/A N/A   £33,180 £35,955  Leaving Care 18+ £34,486 £35,288 £35,685 £36,000 £35,595 £36,478 £36,524 £36,064 £3,344  £569 

£424,434 £420,957 £467,420 £569,232 £544,708  Total cost £568,406 £571,420 £582,389 £583,048 £570,761 £586,681 £579,157 £561,374 £9,925  £34,449 

                  

P
age 28



                        

Annualised 
Variance 
assuming 
March as 
base 
between 
2017 and 
2019   

Annualised 
Variance 
assuming 
March as 
base 
between 
2018 and 
2019 

                      

      

Local Authority 
Fostering                 £338,832   £521,872 

      Agency Fostering                 £1,107,184   £578,084 

      

Residential 
Placement                  -£2,162,264   £646,568 

      Semi-Independent                 £810,680   -£176,124 

      SGO                 £247,780   £191,360 

      Leaving Care 18+                 £173,888   £29,588 

      Total movement in cost pressure                £516,100   £1,791,348 

 

 

 

P
age 29



12. Conclusion 
 
12.1 This report highlights that controlling and reducing the overspend in CSC is vital 

for the council finances.   All the initiatives which are being undertaken and are 

described in this report involve a degree of systems change.  The problems 

faced by Lewisham are common across London and beyond.  London Councils 

are working with the LGA on lobbying strategies to highlight the scale of the 

problem.   

13. Financial implications 

13.1 There are no specific financial implications to this report although it concerns 

the council’s finances. 

14. Legal implications 

14.1 The legal basis for the provision of children’s social care services is set out in 

the report. 

15. Crime and disorder implications 

15.1 The children’s social care service works closely with youth offending service as 

they work with many of the same young people and their families.  The police 

are key partners as is the MASH and LSCB and Children and Young People 

Directorate is a key part of the Safer Lewisham Partnership.   

16. Equalities implications 

16.1 The children’s social care service is designed to promote equality of opportunity 

by giving children a better start in life than they would otherwise have without 

the service’s intervention.  The service inevitably deals predominantly with 

those who are disadvantaged economically, in terms of disability, health and 

other protected characteristics.   

 
If there are any queries on this report please contact:  
Sara Williams, Executive Director for CYP sara.williams@lewisham.gov.uk   
 
  

Page 30

mailto:sara.williams@lewisham.gov.uk


 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

MAYOR & CABINET / PUBLIC ACCOUNTS SELECT COMMITTEE 
 

 

REPORT TITLE 
 

 

Finance Report 2019/20 -  Period 2 
 

KEY DECISION 
 

 

No 
 

Item No.  
 

 

WARD 
 

 

N/A 
 

CONTRIBUTORS 
 

 

Executive Director for Resources 
 

 

CLASS 
 

 

Part 1 
 

Date  
 

10th July 2019 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
1.1 This report sets out the financial forecasts for 2019/20 as at 31 May 2018, noting any 

exceptional items to the end of June 2019.  The key areas to note are as follows: 
 

i. There is a forecast overspend of £4.6m against the directorates’ net general fund 
revenue budget.  This is set out in more detail in sections five to nine of this report.  
The main budget pressures are in the Children’s & Young People and Customer 
Services directorates.   

 
ii. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is expected to balance at the year end.  There 

are nine schools with loans totalling £2.4m.  This is set out in more detail in section 
10 of this report. 
 

iii. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is currently projecting a balanced budget 
position.  This is set out in more detail in section 11 of this report. 

 
iv. As at 31st May 2019, some 19.1% of council tax due and 31.0% of business rates due 

had been collected.  At this point last year, 19.1% of council tax due and 31.5% of 
business rates due had been collected.  This is set out in more detail in section 12 of 
this report. 
 

v. The Capital Programme spend as at 31 May 2019 is £30.7m, which is 16% of the 
2019/20 of the proposed revised capital budget of £197.3m.  At this point last year, 
8% of the revised budget had been spent, with the final outturn being 82% (£71.1m) 
of the revised budget of £87.0m.  This has been set out in more detail in section 13 of 
this report and the appended documents. 

 
 
2. PURPOSE 

 
2.1 The purpose of this report is set out the financial forecasts for 2019/20 as at the end 

of May 2019, noting any exceptional items to the end of June 2019 and projected to 
the year end.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 The Mayor is asked to: 
 
3.3.1 Note the current financial forecasts for the year ending 31 March 2020 and the 

action being taken by the Executive Directors to manage down the forecasted year-
end overspend. 

 
3.3.2 Note the proposed revision of the capital programme budget, as set out in section 

13 of this report, with further detail attached at appendices 1 and 2. 
 
 
4. POLICY CONTEXT 
  
4.1  This financial position demonstrates the impact of the very severe financial 

constraints which have been imposed on Council services with the cuts made 

year on year, despite the increasing demand to deliver services to the borough’s 

residents.  

 

4.2 The information set out in the body of this report is consistent with the delivery of 
the Council’s corporate priorities (contained within the new Corporate Strategy 
2018-22), and is particularly relevant to the Council’s strong and resilient 
framework for prioritising action has assisted the organisation in the face of 
austerity and on-going cuts to local government spending.  This continues to 
mean, that even with the prospect of the most daunting financial challenges facing 
the Council and its partners, the Council continues to work alongside our 
communities to achieve more than it could by simply working alone.  

 
 
5. DIRECTORATE FORECAST OUTTURN 

 
5.1 The forecasts against the directorates’ general fund revenue budgets are shown in 

Table 1 below.  In summary, a forecast year end overspend of £4.6m is being 
reported as at the end of May 2019.  At the same time last year, an overspend of 
some £14.8m was forecast.  

   
Table 1 – Overall Directorate position for 2019/20 

 
Directorate Gross 

budgeted 
spend 

Gross 
budgeted 
income 

Net 
budget 
2019/20 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2019/20 

Variance 
2019/20 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Children & Young People (1) (3) 69.8 (10.9) 58.9 61.9 3.0 

Community Services 177.6 (85.9) 91.7 89.6 (2.1) 

Customer Services (2) 102.4 (59.6) 42.8 46.5 3.7 

Resources & Regeneration 79.2 (53.2) 26.0 26.0 0.0 

Directorate Totals 429.0 (209.6) 219.4 224.0 4.6 

Corporate Items 23.6 (0.0) 23.6 23.6 0.0 

Net Revenue Budget 452.6 (209.6) 243.0 247.6 4.6 
 

(1) – gross figures exclude £290m Dedicated Schools’ Grant expenditure and matching grant income 
 

(2) – gross figures exclude approximately £213m of matching income and expenditure for housing benefits. 
 

(3) – includes £5.4m of once-off funding for 2019/20 to be reviewed in 2020/21   

 
 
 

Page 34



6. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES 
 

6.1 Based on the May 2019 financial position, there is an anticipated overspend of 
£3.0m for the Children and Young People’s Directorate. This is a continuation of the 
pressures identified in 2018/19 supporting Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
Transport, Early Help (Troubled Families) and the Youth Service. 

 
Table 2 – Children & Young People Directorate 

 
Service Area Gross 

budgeted 
Spend 

Gross 
budgeted 
income – 
including 
grants* 

 

Net 
budget 

Forecast 
Spend  

 2019/20 

Forecast 
over/ 

(under) 
spend 

May 2019  

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Children’s Social Care 43.6 (0.8) 42.8 43.8 1.0 

No Recource to Public Funds 4.0 (0.0) 4.0 3.0 (1.0) 

Education, Standards and Inclusion 12.3 (2.8) 9.5 11.4 1.9 

Joint Commissioning and Early Help 9.9 (5.6) 4.3 5.4 1.1 

Schools 0.0 (1.7) (1.7) (1.7) 0  

Total 69.8 (10.9) 58.9 61.9 3.0 

 
* The government grants include the Adoption Reform Grant, SEND reform grant, Troubled Families grant. 

 
6.2 The most significant pressures in the current financial year relate to transport for 

SEN pupils of £1.9m and Early Help of £1.1m. 
 

6.3 Children’s Social Care  

 
6.3.1 In 2018/19, the Children Social Care division reported pressures of £6.9m.  The 

pressures, net of savings, have been funded from corporate resources for 
2019/20.  The directorate is progressing a placements strategy that reviews all 
aspects of placements and strategy.  The strategy sets out how changes in 
demand and in client needs will be met, and how resources will be managed.  
Members will receive regular updates on this as the programme progresses.  

 
6.3.2 A staffing reorganisation is also underway, with an interim structure imminent, 

while progress is made towards a long term review. 
 

6.3.3 The No Recourse to Public Funds service has significantly reduced the number of 
households that are being provided with support from 100 cases in April 2018, to 
78 at the end of the last financial year.  The vast majority of cases closed are 
because households have regularised their immigration status which provides 
them with recourse to public funds.  This has resulted in an underspend of 
approximately £1m as at the end of the last financial year, 2018/19.  Indications for 
this first finance report of this new financial year, 2019/20, suggests that this level 
of underspend is expected to continue. 

 
6.3.4 The result of the additional funds, the review of placements and the staffing 

reorganisation is that the children’s social care service is expected to spend to 
budget in 2019/20.  It should be noted that the majority of the children’s social care 
budget relates to non-staffing spend committed in the main to fund children’s 
placements. 

 

Page 35



6.3.5 The table below shows placement numbers for the last four months, i.e. the last 
two months of 2018/19 and the first two months of the new financial year, 2019/20. 

 
Table 3 – Looked After Children 

 

Looked After Children Numbers (Average) 
  

  
February  

2019 
March 
2019 

April 
2019 

May  
2019 

LA Fostering (incl. kinship) 199 197 197 199 

Agency Fostering  197 196 197 193 

Residential Children's Homes 48 45 47 42 

Semi-Independent 
placements 38 36 32 32 

Leaving Care 18+ 46 46 60 58 

Special Guardianship Orders  209 209 155 155 

Total 737 729 688 679 

 
6.4 Education, Standards and Inclusion 

 
6.4.1 The main cost pressure within the Education, Standards and Inclusion division 

relates to SEN transport with a projected overspend of £1.9m.  The overspend is 
consistent with the position for the previous two financial years.  This is a demand 
led budget.  Consistent with the national position, the Council has experienced an 
increase in the numbers of pupils with Education, Health and Care Plans 
(EHCPs).  Officers are closely monitoring the impact of this. 
 

6.4.2 Officers continue to progress work to manage demand.  A review into the 
Council’s use of transport is being undertaken this year, but it is still too early to 
anticipate the full benefits in this financial year. 
 

6.5 Joint Commissioning and Early Help 
 

6.5.1 The Joint Commissioning and Early Help service is reporting a budget pressure of 
some £1.1m for the first quarter of 2019/20.  The early help offer for families is 
funded exclusively from the Troubled Families (TF) grant (attachment fees and 
payment by results).  Although the Council’s TF claims are at the level expected 
by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), an 
unachievable savings income target set up in 2015/16, means that the service is 
again reporting a pressure of circa £0.9m.  The TF grant may come to an end later 
this year and consideration will need to be given to future funding of this service. 
 

6.5.2 A budget shortfall of £0.5m for the Youth Service contract, partially offset by an 
underspend in the Children’s Centres budget of £0.3m accounts for the balance of 
the overspend.  The contract is being reviewed as part of Early Help review which 
is currently underway.  

 
6.6 Progress on Savings for 2019/20 

 
6.6.1 The progress on revenue budget savings for the directorate have been set out in 

the table below.  Saving proposals of £1.575m were agreed in setting 2019/20 
budget.  At the stage of the financial year it is expected that these savings are on 
track to be delivered in full.  

Page 36



 
Table 4 – CYP Savings Tracker for 2019/20  
 
Ref Description Division 

 
£k Comment 

CYP01 More efficient use of residential 
placements  

CSC 500 On track 
 

CYP02 Improved placement process and more 
efficient systems with rigorous control 
through operating model and IT 

CSC 250 On track 
 

CYP03 More systematic and proactive 
management of the market for 
independent fostering 

CSC 350 On track 
 

CYP04 Commission semi-independent 
accommodation for care leavers 

CSC 250 On track 
 

CYP05 Residential framework for young people - 
Joint South East London Commissioning 
Programme 

CSC 200 On track 
 

CYP06 Cease funding for former CYP funded post 
in Voluntary Action Lewisham 

Joint 
Commissioning/ 

Early Help 

25 On track 
 

 
Total  1,575  

 
 
7. COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 
7.1 As at the end of May 2019, the Community Services directorate is forecasting an 

underspend of £2.1m.  At the same time last year, the year-end forecast was an 
overspend of £0.3m, with the actual year-end outturn being an underspend of £2.8m. 
 
Table 4 – Community Services Directorate 

  
Service Area Gross 

budgeted 
Spend 

Gross 
budgeted 
income 

Net 
budget 

Forecast 
2019/20 

Forecast 
over/ 

(under) 
spend 

May 2019  

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Adult Social Care 127.4 (54.8) 72.6 70.5 (2.1) 

Cultural and Community Development 16.1 (7.8) 8.3 8.6 0.3 

Public Health 14.9 (15.2) (0.3) (0.2) 0.1 

Crime Reduction & Supporting People 18.0 (8.0) 10.0 9.6 (0.4) 

Strategy & Performance 1.3 0 1.3 1.3 0 

Total 177.7 (85.8) 91.9 89.8 (2.1) 

 
7.2 The most significant cost variances for the directorate fall within the Adult Social 

Care division.  The following sections provide a summary of the revenue forecast 
by division.  It provides an explanation of the cause of the variance and any 
movements from the previous period.  It also makes clear what the impact of any 
management action or other intervention will have on the forecast projected to the 
year-end.  Where any variance is impacted upon by demand driven activity, then 
these are also set out and made clear in this section.  
 
 
 
 

Page 37



7.3 Adult Social Care Services 

 
7.3.1 An underspend of £2.1m is projected in the Adult Social Care division.  The budget 

has been increased in 2019/20 by the precept of £2m to fund the rise in London 
Living Wage costs and a rise in the improved Better Care Fund grant of £2.8m.  
There are cost pressures arising from transition and other demographic effects 
and from increased costs of care arising from London and National Living Wage.  
However, the effects of these is less than the new level of resource available for 
2019/20. 
 

7.3.2 Most of the revenue budget savings have been achieved.  There has been 
improved management of enquiries and how these can be resolved by the staff 
who handle them.  Such new approaches to demand management have reduced 
the numbers of older service users, particularly smaller care packages.  An 
updated position of the progress of delivering the revenue savings has been set 
out in the table below.  

 
Table 5 – Community Services Savings Tracker for 2019/20 

 

 

 

 

Ref 
 

Description £k 
 

Comment 

COM01 
Managing demand at the point of 
access to adult social care services 

122 
On track 

COM02 
Ensuring support plans optimise value 
for money 

250 
On track 

COM03 
Increase revenue from charging Adult 
Social Care clients 

159 

Saving now fully achieved 
despite auto charging and 
configuration still not complete – 
prospect to improve charging in 
20/21 

COM04 
Reduce costs for Learning Disability 
and Transitions 

900 

Work in progress – partial 
achievement expected in 
2019/20 

COM05 Increased focus of personalisation  260 On track 

COM06 
Reduction in Mental Health 
Residential care costs  

300 
On track 

COM07 
Reduction in Adult Social Care 
contribution to Mental Health 
Integrated Community Services 

100 
On track 

COM09 
Cut to intensive housing advice and 
support service  

300 
On track 

COM10 
Crime, Enforcement & Regulation 
reorganisation 

255 
On track 

COM12 Cut to Main Grants budget 600 
On track for full year; part year 
effect in 2019/20 

COM13 
Reduction in Arts, Development and 
Events Funding 

85 
On track 

COM14 Reduce Local Assemblies funds  225 On track 

COM16 
Cultural and Community Development 
Service Staffing 

75 
On track 

COM17 Ending the Small & Faith Fund 50 On track 

  Total 3,681   

Page 38



   
7.3.3 Consultation on a new staffing structure that is designed to increase the levels and 

skills mix of staff at the front door is currently in progress.  This along with more 
effective use of short term interventions, such as enablement has contributed to 
some delay or reductions in the need for longer term care is being scoped.  Work 
to improve systems with projected costs of £400k have been delayed.  Once this is 
in place, further revenue savings on package and placement budgets will be 
possible through better demand management.  These are difficult to quantify at 
this stage, and have currently not been reflected in the projections for this period. 

 
7.3.4 Officers from within the services of Joint Commissioning and Adult Social Care are 

working proactively to identify appropriate and cost effective solutions that will 
reduce some of the costs associated with long term care and support.  These 
reductions are work in progress and have not been factored into the projections. 

 
7.3.5 The service is dealing with more complex levels of need from cases that are 

referred from the acute hospitals due to a reduced length of stay.  In addition, the 
young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities that transition from 
children’s services to adults’ social care, tend to be more complex.  

 
7.3.6 Additionally, there has been an unexpected increase in the number of residential 

and nursing placements for service users aged 18 to 65.  Transition was expected 
to increase learning disabilities numbers, but there has been an increase of 20 
placements (28%) on other client groups also.  Officers are investigating the 
reasons for this and will consider whether they could be avoided. 
 

7.4 Cultural and Community Development 
 
7.4.1 The Cultural and Community Development service is currently projecting an 

overspend of £0.3m. 
   
7.4.2 The community sector grants programme is showing an overspend of £0.2m.  This 

was highlighted in the Main Grants Programme 2019-22 report to Mayor& Cabinet 
on 24th April 2019.  A revenue budget saving of £600k was taken against the 
2019/20 grants budget, however the new 3-year programme comes into effect on 
1st August 2019 meaning that the existing programme was extended for four 
months resulting in the £0.2m budget pressure.  The full £0.6m saving will be 
achieved in a full year for 2020/21 onwards. 

 
7.4.2 There is a potential overspend of £50k on the community centres budget which is 

resulting from outstanding commercial rent agreements on several of the 
community hub buildings where voluntary sector organisations are in occupation.  
The negotiations are ongoing and once completed and agreements have been 
signed, then this potential pressure will be resolved for 2019/20. 

 
7.4.3  There is a small projected variance on the Broadway Theatre budget of £25k due 

to additional staffing costs on marketing and promotion which is not expected to be 
covered from additional income generation.  Any pantomime agreement for 
2019/20 will be on a ‘hire only’ arrangement with the promoter excepting the risk 
and the hire fee fully covering our costs to prevent the risk of any potential 
overspend.  There is a small overspend expected of £12k on the Blackheath 
Firework event due to a shortfall in potential contributions to the event.  However, 
there are ongoing discussions with the Royal Borough of Greenwich with regard to 
their contribution to the event in an attempt to alleviate this pressure. 

Page 39



 
7.5 Public Health 

 
7.5.1 The Public Health division has a planned revenue budget saving on staffing which 

has not yet been delivered in full and therefore an overspend of £0.1m is 
projected.  Options for addressing this will be developed over the next three 
months. 

 
7.6 Crime Reduction and Supporting People 

 
7.6.1 The Crime Reduction and Supporting People service is currently projecting an 

underspend of £0.4m. 
 

7.6.2 There is a projected underspend of £0.2m on the budget for secure remand 
placements in the Youth Offending Service.  Due to better demand management, 
the level of remand activity has continued to be relatively low based on numbers 
for the April-May 2019 period.  This budget can still be volatile as placements are 
at the discretion of the court based on the age/vulnerability of the young person 
and the nature of the offence.  However, based on current remand numbers a 
similar level of underspend is projected as was the case in 2018/19. 

 
7.6.3 There are a range of smaller variances across the division which total to a net 

underspend of £0.2m.  These are as follows: environmental health staffing is 
projected to underspend by £50k due to staffing vacancies and difficulties 
recruiting suitable agency staff; youth offending core staffing budget is projected to 
underspend by £25k due to recruitment lag in filling new posts; crime, enforcement 
and regulation staffing budget is projected to underspend by £30k due to the 
recruitment lag filling a vacant post; prevention & inclusion staffing budget is 
expected to underspend by £50k due staff secondment; and there is  also 
expected to be a saving of £50k for the supporting people service due contract 
savings.  

 
7.7 Strategy and Performance 

 
7.7.1 The Strategy and Performance division is reporting a nil variance at this stage of 

the year and is expected to spend to budget by the year-end. 
 

7.8 Trends in activity  
 

7.8.1 The following paragraphs show trends in activity in adult social care. 
 

Overall Service Users 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



Table 6 – Adults 65+ in long term placements as at 31 March 2019 
 

 
 

 The overall number of clients in receipt of a service at the end of the year 
decreased from 1,946 in 2014/15 to 1,728 in 2018/19, (an 11% decrease) 
  

 The number of clients in residential placements decreased from 297 in 
2014/15 to 263 in 2018/19, (an 11.4% decrease) 

 

 However, the number of clients in nursing care placements increased by 23% 
over the period from 224 in 2017/18  to 275 in 2018/19  

 
Table 7 – Adults 18-64 that received long term support as at 31 March  

 

 
 

 The number of clients receiving a service at the end of the year decreased 
from 1,226 in 2014/15 to 1,130 in 2018/19, (an 8% decrease) 

   

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Community 1402 1338 1355 1335 1217

Residential 297 324 301 267 236

Nursing 247 248 225 224 275

Total no of clients over 65 1946 1910 1881 1826 1728

12.7% 13.0% 12.0% 12.3% 15.9%
15.3% 17.0% 16.0% 14.6% 13.7%

72.0% 70.1% 72.0% 73.1% 70.4%

1946 1910 1881 1826 1728

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Long Term Support  clients  65+ using services at the end of 
the year - 31st March

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Community 960 921 914 1000 908

Residential 234 233 194 227 179

Nursing 32 28 27 32 43

Total no of clients 18-64 1226 1182 1135 1259 1130

2.6% 2.4% 2.4% 2.5% 3.8%

19.1% 19.7% 17.1% 18.0% 15.8%

78.3% 77.9% 80.5%
79.4%

80.4%

1226 1182
1135

1259

1130

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

Long Term Support - Adults 18-64 using services as at the 
end of the year - 31st March

Page 41



 However, the number of clients in nursing care placements at the end of the 
year increased by 34% over the period 

 

 Residential placements showed 16% decrease over the period, typically the 
more complicated and expensive placements. 

 
Table 8 – Increase in number of Personal Assistants 
 

Date    Employers In-Year 
Employee 
Numbers 

In-Year 
Hours 

In-Year 
Increase in 

Hours 

Annual Saving 
Compared to 
Agency Cost 

Apr 2017 385   454,582     

Apr 2018 419 889 498,969 44387 £197,523 

Apr 2019 417 906 527,895 28926 £131,902 

  
7.8.2 Although the number of employers is not increasing as quickly as would be 

desired, there is a significant amount of work that goes in to recruitment to keep 
the numbers up as client’s Direct Payments (DP) cease, and/or employment 
ends.  On average, 125 employees left DP employment each year in 2017/18 
and 2018/19.  Additionally, our In-Year PA hours have increased year on year.  If 
those increased hours were provided by care agencies this would have increased 
costs by £197,523 in 2017/18 and £131,902 in 2018/19. 

 
Table 9 – Increase in use of Shared Lives 

 
Date Number of 

Shared Lives 
carers 

Number of long 
term service 
users 

April 2016 15 16 

April 2017 15 17 

April 2018 20 18 

April 2019  25 20 

 
7.8.3 Lewisham has increased the numbers of Shared Lives carers by 10 since 2017, 

officers are planning a further recruitment campaign in September 2019 to further 
increase the number of carers.  Currently, an additional four service users are 
going through their induction prior to becoming long term. 

 
7.8.4 Learning disability division - the service has been working on various areas of 

care costs, they have focused their work where they felt they can purchase more 
cost effective solutions.  Working collaboratively with services users and families 
on assessed care and support needs.  Between April 2019 and mid June 2019, 
there has been a reduction of £273,092 in care costs. 

 
 
8. CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
8.1 As at the end of May 2019, the Customer Services directorate is forecasting an 

overspend of £3.7m.  At the same time last year, the year-end forecast was an 
overspend of £1.6m, with the actual year-end outturn being an overspend of 
£3.5m. 

 
 

Page 42



 
 
    Table 10 – Customer Services Directorate 
 

Service Area Gross 
budgeted 

spend 

Gross 
budgeted 
income 

Net 
budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2019/20 

Forecast 
over/ 

(under) 
spend 

May 2019 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Strategic Housing  28.7 (23.2) 5.5 5.5 0.0 

Environment 37.3 (17.4) 19.9 22.2 2.3 

Public Services* 31.0 (19.0) 12.0 12.6 0.6 

Technology & Change 5.4 0.0 5.4 6.6 0.8 

Total 102.4 (59.6) 42.8 46.9 3.7 

* (excludes £213m of matching income and expenditure in respect of housing benefits) 

 

8.2 The most significant cost pressures for the directorate fall within the Environment 
division.  The following sections provide a summary of the revenue forecast by 
division.  It provides an explanation of the cause of the variance and any 
movements from the previous period.  It also makes clear what the impact of any 
management action or other intervention will have on the forecast projected to 
the year-end.  Where any variance is impacted upon by demand driven activity, 
then these are set out and made clear in this section also.  This section also 
provides a directorate summary of the progress being made on delivering agreed 
savings for 2019/20 and what impact if any, slippage on those savings is having 
on the overall directorate position.  

 
8.3 Strategic Housing 
  
8.3.1 The net budget for Strategic Housing in 2019/20 is £5.5m.  The forecast position 

for May 2019 is for spend to budget.  However, pressures are developing through 
the provision of incentive payments, the identified budgets having been depleted.  
This is under review and will is expected to be addressed for future budgets.  

 
8.3.2 The budget for bed & breakfast (B&B) is forecast to spend to budget after the use 

of grants given specifically for this purpose (covering the HB limitation recharge). 
Through the year, new units will continue to come on line in our own stock and 
the use of privately managed accommodation (PMA) has reduced the 
requirement for additional B&B spend.  

 
8.3.3 Actual numbers in B&B are at 704 tenancies at the end of May 2019.  This 

number has been kept relatively stable over the last few months due to the 
continuation of incentive payments to landlords and clients (finding their own 
accommodation to rent).  In 2018/19, a total of 593 preventions were made using 
this resource.  If this resource was not available and these clients had to be 
housed in nightly paid accommodation, then this would have cost an additional 
£3.558m to the service.  

 
8.3.4 PMA as a product is a cost to the council and will contribute to the pressure in the 

Housing division, but at a lesser extent than if B&B accommodation was used.  
PMA is currently forecast to underspend by £149k.  Again, this is after the use of 
specific grant given for this purpose (covering HB limitation recharge).  The total 
number of PMA stock at the start of the financial year is 359 units.  

Page 43



 
8.3.5 The forecast overspend in the Housing Needs Group is mainly due to salaries 

cost overruns.  This is being discussed with the service group managers to 
identify potential posts which should be funded via specific new burdens and 
flexible homelessness support grant funding. 

  
8.4 Environment 
 
8.4.1 The Environment division is forecasting a net overspend of £2.3m.  This is set 

against an overspend of £1.9m in 2018/19 and £0.8m agreed revenue budget 

savings for 2019/20. 

 

  8.4.2  The refuse collection services is forecast to be £1.5m overspent, accounting for 

almost two thirds of the total overspend in Environment.  As seen in previous 

years, the overspends on vehicle costs for refuse services are reducing following 

the purchase of a number of new vehicles in 2018/19.  However, there are still 

nine hired in vehicles in use, which is expected to create an overspend position 

for this year of £0.6m, down from £0.7m last year.  Members should note that a 

report elsewhere on this agenda is seeking the approval for the acquisition of a 

fleet of new Euro Low Emission Zone compliant vehicles.  Once these vehicles 

have arrived, it will avoid the need to hire refuse vehicles.  

  

8.4.3 There is also a shortfall of income projected for trade refuse of £0.3m, which is in 

line with the income shortfall in 2018/19.  Work is being undertaken to analyse 

the customer base and develop more streamlined marketing contract and debt 

collection processes to increase the income stream from trade waste and in line 

with the recommendations of the APSE review.  The staff costs are anticipated to 

exceed the budget by £0.6m, similar to 2018/19.  An extra collection round was 

introduced at the beginning of 2018/19 to improve operational effectiveness with 

the expectation that this would not be required from 2019/20.  However, this has 

not proved to be the case and is estimated to cost £0.2m per annum.  The 

service will review the need for continuation of this additional round and assess 

whether the mix between permanent and temporary staff is optimal in order to 

secure efficiencies. 

 

8.4.4 For strategic waste management services the forecast overspend of £0.3m is 
being reported, partly relating to claims by the Royal Borough of Greenwich for 
arrangements pertaining to the SELCHP contract in refuse disposal, 
unachievable income recharge budget, and overspends on staffing and supplies 
and services in civic amenities.  Four new containers were purchased recently for 
the Landman Way site.  A one year contract for the disposal of dry recyclables is 
expected to commence on 1st July 2019 as an interim position.  The existing 
contract will have expired as the current contractor does not wish to extend so 
this will allow sufficient time for a thorough procurement process.  The cost is 
estimated at £1.3m, an increase of £0.4m on 2018/19, with the expectation this 
will be funded from corporate reserves as in previous years.  It is difficult to 
quantify the costs of this service early in the year as tonnages and cost per tonne 
vary.  These rising costs described above, faced with a 9% fall in volumes over 
five years require further analysis.  The service will work on getting a better 
understanding of waste disposal volumes and how this drives costs both in terms 
of disposal and collection rounds needed.  The table below sets out waste 
disposal volumes for the last five years. 

Page 44



 

 

  Table 11 – Waste Disposal Volumes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8.4.5 The street management service is forecasting a £0.3m overspend, the same as 

2018/19.  Most of this overspend is due to staffing, with a small element of 

residual spend for public conveniences.  Management are undertaking a detailed 

analysis of this staffing pressure to have a better understanding of the cost 

drivers.  

 

8.4.6 The green scene service is forecasting an overspend of £0.1m, partly in relation 

to the parks contract which expires on 1st March 2020.  A balanced view has 

been taken on the likely contract cost for the year as there can be a significant 

degree of price volatility each month.  There are shortfalls on the increased 

income budget of £0.1m and grounds maintenance costs in the arborists’ service 

add £0.1m pressures.  These pressures partially offset by £0.1m additional 

income in pest control. 

 

8.4.7  The passenger services budget is forecast to break even for 2019/20.  The cost 

of passenger services for 2019/20 is £4.1m and this will be fully recharged to 

directorates, predominately CYP (for SEN transport) and Community Services.  

The overall cost of the service is expected to be £0.3m higher than 2018/19 costs 

of £3.8m.  

 

8.4.8       Service for fleet is showing a net overspend of £0.1m in line with 2018/19 and 

2017/18.   Fleet hire rates are set at the beginning of the year to recover the 

costs of routine maintenance on the core fleet vehicles – the charges are 

expected to cover the cost of fleet staffing, external maintenance services and, 

parts.  The costs of non-routine maintenance, fuel and hired in vehicles are all 

charged out to users at cost.  The increasing age of the fleet has meant that the 

costs of routine maintenance are increasing each year and will not be fully 

recovered through the hire charges, resulting in the £0.1m variance.  

  

8.4.9 Bereavement services is forecasting a net overspend of £0.1m due to increased 
charges for the coroners court service with the London Borough of Southwark.  
LB Lewisham's contribution to the Coroners Consortium this year is £476k, an 
increase of £66k on last year.  With the increase in cost of burials from 1st April 
2019, the expectation is a rise in income which is reflected in increased income 
budget of £41k to £396k.  However, due to the nature of the service and the 
difficulty in predicting 'take-up'  the service has projected a breakeven position in 

Waste Type 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 April ‘19 

Total waste sent for 
incineration 99,829 99,573 99,835 94,930 85,558 7,384 

Total waste sent to landfill 372 856 958 499 362 28 

Total waste sent for 
recycling 18,863 19,231 17,329 16,091 15,801 1,254 

Total waste for 
composting 1,804 1,372 2,626 7,597 12,138 1,117 

Total waste sent for re-
use 725 992 1,303 1,050 811 68 

Total waste sent for RDF  7,668 8,030 2,003 2,284 2,982 138 
Total waste collected 
(tonnes) 129,260 130,055 124,055 122,451 117,653 9,988 

Page 45



the 1st quarter and expect to review position in the 2nd quarter.  The service will 
incur additional expenditure in the year resulting from work to create four new 
burial plots at Hither Green and Grove Park Cemeteries; the cost of creating the 
plots is in the region of £27k and work has started. Cremation charges were 
reduced by 7.5% from 1st April 2019 with the aim of making services more 
affordable.  There has been a drop in income during April and May when 
compared with the same period last year.   However, the number of deaths 
registered in the borough is also lower for April and May this year compared with 
the same period last year and we have therefore carried out fewer cremations. 
This situation will be monitored over the coming months.  Table 11 below sets out 
the numbers of burials, cremations undertaken by the service since 2011 and 
compares that to the total deaths in the Borough. 

  
   Table 12 – Burials and Cremations 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.5 Public Services 
 
8.5.1 The Public Services division is forecasting an overspend position of £0.6m at the 

year-end, compared to a £0.7m overspend in 2018/19. 
 
8.5.2 For the Revenue services area, an overspend of £0.2m is anticipated, with £0.2m 

in the council tax administration and court grant area, primarily due to bank 
charges.  A similar position was reported in 2018/19.  The council tax 
administration team is anticipated to underspend by £0.2 on staffing costs.  The 
cashiers team are forecasting an overspend of £0.2m whilst underspends for 
council tax management of £0.2m are expected in relation to ICT hardware and 
other supplies and services.  A shortfall income of £0.1m is also anticipated for 
the enforcement service. 

 
8.5.3 The Housing Benefits Service is projecting to overspend by £0.6m mainly due to 

a £0.5m forecast overspend on Housing Benefits Subsidy.  The reductions in 
overpayment income and bad debt requirement are the main drivers for the 
ongoing budget pressure within Housing Benefit Subsidy.  Overpayment income 
continues to reduce with a year-end projection of £1.6m, a reduction of 1.1m on 
2018/19. The increase in bad debt provision is forecast to be £0.3m which is 
£0.9m lower than 2018/19, mainly due to a reduction in “older” overpayments 
which has released provision.  In 2018/19 a net income of £1.4m was generated 
from the overpayment income and bad debt provision.  The forecast for 2019/20 
gives an income of £1.3m which is a reduction of £0.1m.  The total spend for rent 
rebates is currently forecast to be 5% lower than 2018/19.  However, when 
reviewing the breakdown for HRA and non HRA rent rebates this shows spend 

Year 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
         

2018 
 

Burials 554 542 529 505 494 529 499 589 

Cremations 1,303 1,203 1,249 1,141 1,257 1,223 1,235 1,340 

Our Services 1,857 1,745 1,778 1,646 1,751 1,752 1,734 1,929 

Deaths 1,607 1,500 1,494 1,536 1,599 1,467 1,906 1,743 

Cremations 
% 

81.08% 80.20% 83.60% 74.28% 78.61% 83.37% 64.80% 76.88% 

Burials % 34.47% 36.13% 35.41% 32.88% 30.89% 36.06% 26.18% 33.79% 

Total % 115.56% 116.33% 119.01% 107.16% 109.51% 119.43% 90.98% 110.67% 

Cremations 
% Services 

70.17% 68.94% 70.25% 69.32% 71.79% 69.81% 71.22% 69.47% 

Page 46



for non HRA is currently 19.8% higher than 2018/19 with a reduction of 15.5% for 
HRA rent rebates.  It is the ongoing increase in non HRA spend which is driving 
the increases in the homeless recharge which is currently forecast to be £0.7m 
higher than 2018/10.  This is recharged to Housing so has no financial impact for 
HB subsidy, however, it is an increasing cost for the authority. 

 
8.5.4 A full review of the budget related to housing benefits and universal credit will be 

undertaken once the announcement around funding arrangements are known.  
The concessionary fares budget is forecast to underspend by £0.2m. This is due 
to lower settlement figures from TfL based on the number of Freedom Pass 
holders. The local support scheme provides small loans and grants to at risk 
individuals in the case of a crisis or emergency.  The service is funded from one 
off grant income received in previous years from the DWP. This funding is due to 
run out this year and officers are working to conclude the scheme.  There is a risk 
that the funding will run out before the service has been concluded. 

 
8.5.5 An overspend of £0.2m is forecast for the Emergency Planning & Administration 

service mainly due to a £0.3m overspend on agency staff in the Complaints, 
Casework and Information Governance team, partially offset by schools buy back 
income £0.1m more than budgeted; within the same service the Emergency 
Planning team has a very small overspend on permanent staff.   

 
8.5.6 Service Point is also projecting a £0.1m overspend, due to staffing pressures in 

the service point access team and the in house printing service.  The Front of 
House team is forecasting a small underspend.  Re-alignment of the staffing 
budgets for the service point access and Front of House teams may be required 
once reviewed as there are outstanding budgetary disaggregation issues of the 
former Business Support team. 

 
8.5.7 The gross costs of the Parking service are forecast at £0.2m above budget, due 

to the increase in bank charges arising from the rise in cashless parking charge 
payments.  This is expected to be offset by a favourable variance of £0.3m from 
fixed penalty notices and pay and display charges, creating a £0.1m surplus for 
the service.  Management are confident that this position will improve by the end 
of the financial year.  However, it is too early to project what this sum will be as 
there are too many variants including the reliance on motorists’ behaviour. 

 
8.6 IT and Digital Services 
 
8.6.1 The IT and Digital Services division is currently forecast to end the year with 

overspend by £0.8m due to anticipated additional costs of the Shared ICT 
Service (£0.6m).  Following a licence review, settlement for Microsoft licensing of 
£400 is being funded as a once-off from corporate resources.  There is also 
additional pressure within the Finance and HR systems (£0.2m) due to the 
introduction of Oracle Fusion. 

 
8.6.2 The current service delivery and costs for the shared service remain under 

review as the required performance standards are not currently being met. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



8.7 Progress on Savings for 2019/20 
 
Table 13 Customer Services Progress on Savings 

 

Ref Proposal 19/20 
Savings 

£’000 

19/20 
Forecast 

£’000 

Comments 

CUS01 Printing reduction 100 60  

CUS02 Income Generation – 
increase of Garden 
Waste Subscription 

278 120 Based on current subscription of 
9,000 customers @ 80 per annum  

CUS03 Income Generation – 
Events in Parks 

200 150 Based on current events planned 

CUS04 Income Generation – 
increase in Commercial 
Waste Charges 

150 0 Ongoing review of potential and 
existing trade customers and 
improved operational processes 

CUS05 Increase charge for the 
collection of Domestic 
Lumbar from households 

30 27 Agreed proposal is based on four 
items per visit which differs from 
original proposal based on 3 items per 
visit 

CUS06 Bereavement Services – 
increase income targets 

67 67 Income difficult to forecast dependant 
on death rate and uptake of services 

CUS08 Close the four remaining 
Automated Public Toilets 

92 92 Any overspend to be met by corporate 
as per proposal. Full closure expected 
July 2019. 

CUS09 Cost reductions in 
homelessness provision – 
income generation and 
net 

405 405 Risk remains the numbers in bed & 
breakfast will not reduce as planned 

CUS10 Invest to save – create 
revenues protection team 

806 806 Needs further review 

CUS12 Invest to save – Housing 
Benefit overpayment 
recovery improved 

480 480 Overpayment income forecast to 
decrease by £1.1m and provision to 
bad debt reduced by £0.9m compared 
to 2018/19. 

CUS14 Parking Service revenue 
review 

500 500 Challenging to meet 2020/21 income 
savings target 

 Total savings 3,108 2,707  

 

9. RESOURCES AND REGENERATION 
 
9.1 As at the end of May 2019, the Resources and Regeneration directorate is forecasting 

a balanced budget at year-end.  At the same time last year, the year-end forecast was 
an underspend of £0.6m, with the actual year-end outturn being an underspend of 
£0.9m.  The overall position has been set out in Table 13. 

 
 

Page 48



 Table 14 – Resources and Regeneration Directorate 
 

Service Area Gross 
budgeted 

spend 

Gross 
budgeted 
income 

Net 
budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 
2019/20 

Forecast 
over/ 

(under) 
spend 
May  
2019 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Corporate Resources 5.7 (3.2) 2.5 2.5 0.0 

Corporate Policy & 
Governance 5.1 (0.3) 4.8 4.4 (0.4) 

Financial Services 4.5 (1.4) 3.1 3.3 0.2 

OD & Human Resources 2.7 (0.2) 2.5 2.3 (0.2) 

Legal Services 3.4 (0.4) 3.0 3.0 0.0 

Strategy 5.1 (2.8) 2.3 2.3 0.0 

Planning 2.7 (2.0) 0.7 0.7 0.0 

Regeneration & Place 50.0 (42.1) 7.9 8.4 0.4 

Reserves 0 (0.8) (0.8) (0.8) 0.0 

Total 79.2 (53.2) 26.0 26.1 0.0 

 
9.2 The most significant cost pressures for the directorate fall within the Regeneration 

& Place division.   
 

9.3 The Corporate Resources division is forecasting a balanced budget position at 
year end.   

 
9.4 The Corporate Policy and Governance division is forecasting an underspend of 

£0.4m. This is mainly on staffing budgets, including the vacant Chief Executive’s 
post. 
 

9.5 The Financial Services division is forecasting a £0.2m overspend primarily on the 
staffing budget. This partly relates to a delayed budget saving as per paragraph 
9.11. 

 
9.6 The Organisational Development and HR division is forecasting a £0.2m 

underspend. There is an underspend on staffing budgets due to vacancies and 
also higher than budgeted income is being forecast in relation to Occupational 
Health and Learning & Development.  

 
9.7 The Legal Services division is currently forecasting a balanced budget position at 

year-end. 

 
9.8 The Strategy division is currently forecasting a balanced budget position at year-

end.  

 
9.9 The Planning division is currently forecasting a balanced budget position at year-

end. It should, however, be noted that the Council is in the process of preparing a 
new Local Plan, a statutory planning document setting out the Council strategy 
and policies for future growth and change in the borough over a 15 year plan 
period; this has the potential to increase expenditure as a number of studies will 
need to be commissioned to contribute to the evidence base of the plan. This 
expenditure is likely to be incurred over 2019/20 and 2020/21 financial years. 

 

Page 49



9.10 The Regeneration and Place division is forecasting a £0.4m overspend. Income 
from commercial rents is projected to underachieve the budget by £0.1m, partly 
due to void rent loss and limited rent review opportunities this year. Utility costs 
are forecast to exceed the budget by £0.2m due to rising prices. Business rates 
have also increased across the corporate estate as a whole, resulting in a forecast 
£0.1m overspend. The Building Control service is forecasting a £0.1m overspend 
due to the transfer back in to the service of two members of staff from Customer 
Services Directorate. A number of minor underspends across other service areas 
bring the forecast overspend down to £0.4m overall. 

 
9.11 The table below summarises the progress on delivering budget savings agreed for 

2019/20: 
 
Table 15 – Resources Savings Tracker for 2019/20 
 

Ref Description Division Amount Comment 

RES01 
Benefits Realisation of Oracle 
Cloud   Finance £90k 

 
Delayed 

RES02 Legal fees increase Legal £50k On-track 

RES05 
Withdrawal of Councillor Car 
Run Delivery Service 

Policy & 
Governance £10k 

Absorbed within existing 
budget 

RES06 

Increase income supporting 
the Funding Officer post and 
review the Economy and 
Partnerships Function Strategy £30k On-track 

RES08 
Insurance costs – premium 
reduction 

Corporate 
Resources £30k On-track 

RES09 
Insurance costs – self-
insurance reserves 

Corporate 
Resources £200k On-track 

RES10 Cease graduate programme  OD & HR £78k On-track 

RES11 
Increase in pre-application 
fees  Planning £100k On-track 

RES14 

Corporate Estate Facilities 
Management Contract 
Insourcing 

Regeneration 
& Place £100k On-track 

RES16 
Commercial Property 
Investment Acquisitions 

Corporate 
Provisions £140k On-track 

RES17 
Beckenham Place Park – 
income generation 

Regeneration 
& Place £28k On-track 

RES18 
Electric Vehicle charging 
points  

Regeneration 
& Place £50k 

Delayed, awaiting contract 
sign off 

 
Total   906k  

 
 
10. DEDICATED SCHOOLS’ GRANT 
 
10.1 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2019/20 has provisionally been set by the 

Department for Education at £290.9m, although this will change during the year to 
reflect updated pupil numbers. Of this, £24m relates to Early Years. This is a 
provisional figure which will be confirmed later in the year. 

 
10.2 Further grants are given to schools and routed through the local authority. These 

include the pupil premium (£12.9m), post 16 funding (£5.7m) and the universal 
free school meals grant (£3.8m) making total funds of £313.3m.  This figures are 
based on last year’s allocation and have yet to be formally approved. 

Page 50



 
Schools 

 
10.3 The cumulative revenue balances for the year to 2019/20 is a surplus of £18m. 

There were 11 schools with deficits at the year-end 31 March 2019 totalling 
£2.8m.  General feedback from schools suggest that the position will remain 
similar for 2019/20, largely as the pay award and pension costs have been funded.  
 
It should be noted that schools are continuing to use surpluses to balance budgets 
which indicates that the situation could potentially worsen in time subject to the 
outcome of the spending review. A clearer picture of the expected position at the 
end of this financial year will be available when the deadline for submitting school 
budget plans has passed at the end of June 
 

10.3 There are 9 schools with loans with a total balance of £2.4m.  Of this, 6 are 
secondary schools and 2 are Primary schools and 1 all through. Work in the 
coming year will focus on ensuring schools with deficits have a sustainable budget 
recovery plan. 

 
10.4   The central side of the DSG is expected to end the year in balanced budget 

position. 
 
10.5 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2019/20 has provisionally been set by the 

Department for Education at £290.9m, although this will change during the year to 
reflect updated pupil numbers. Of this, £24m relates to Early Years. This is a 
provisional figure which will be confirmed later in the year. 

 
10.6    Further grants are given to schools and routed through the local authority. These 

include the pupil premium (£12.9m), post 16 funding (£5.7m) and the universal 
free school meals grant (£3.8m) making total funds of £313.3m.  This figures are 
based on last year’s allocation and have yet to be formally approved. 
 
High Needs Support 

 
10.7 To date Lewisham has successfully managed to provide its High Needs Support 

within the allocated DSG high needs budget.  This has been a result of partnership 
working with Schools (and schools forum) and where possible Lewisham 
approach to place pupils in our own provision. 

 
10.8 The funding for High Needs is based on a baseline that was determined in 

2012/13, which was prior to the changes established as part of the SEND 
reforms.  For example the LA liability is now 0 to 25 age.  The baseline was 
determined when the scope was from 5 to 19 age.  This is just an 
example.  Overall the number of Education Health Care plans is continuing to 
increase coupled with increase in severity and price. A paper was presented to 
Schools forum in January noting the potential pressures on the High Needs 
Block.  Schools Forum has agreed to support the High Needs Block with funds of 
circa £1m for 2019/20.  We are continuing to work with Forum to review practices 
with a view to working within budget. 

 
10.9   It is important to emphasise that this is a national issue and several meetings have 

now taken place with London councils as part of a lobby process. 
  
 

Page 51



11. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
 
11.1  The table below sets out the current budget for the Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA) in 2019/20.  The balanced HRA budget seen in the table includes a 
budgeted surplus of £3.0m, which is to be transferred to reserves at year end as a 
part of the 30 year HRA business plan. At this relatively early stage of the new 
financial year, no variation is being reported. 

  
11.2  Repairs & Maintenance (R&M) is forecasting spend to budget.  There was an 

overspend in this area in 2018/19. This area will be closely monitored in 2019/20 
to ensure that this does not re-occur and costs contained within overall allocations.  

 
11.3 The current 30 year HRA financial model has been recently refreshed, with the 

final outturn for 2018/19 as well as the latest updates for the new build programme 
and general capital programme incorporated into the plans. Budgets will be 
updated to reflect starting stock numbers from 1st April 2019 to reflect the latest 
position. 

 
 Table 16 – Housing Revenue Account 
 

Service Area 
 
 
 

Expenditure 
Budget 

Income 
Budget 

2019/20 
budget 

Forecast 
over/ 

(under) 
spend 
May 
2019 

 £m £m £m £m 

Customer Services – Housing 17.3 (3.5) 13.8 0 

Lewisham Homes & R&M 37.9 0 37.9 0 

Resources 1.5 0 1.5 0 

Centrally Managed Budgets 48.3 (101.5) (53.2) 0 

Total 105.0 (105.0) 0 0 

 
 
12. COLLECTION FUND 
 
12.1 As at 31st May 2019, some £27.8m of council tax had been collected.  This 

represents 19.1% of the total amount due for the year.  This is below the profiled 
collection rate of 19.3% if the overall target for the year of 96% is to be met.   

 
12.2 Business rates collection is at 31.0% a decrease of 0.5% compared to the same 

period last year, and 4.7% higher than the profiled collection rate if the overall target 
rate for the year of 99% is to be achieved. 

 
 
13. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
 
13.1 The Capital Programme spend as at 31 May 2019 is £30.7m, which is 16% of the 

revised 2019/20 budget of £197.3m.  At this point last year, 8% of the revised 
budget had been spent, with the final outturn being 82% (£71.1m) of the revised 
budget of £87.0m.  
 

13.2 The table below shows the current position on the major projects in the 2019/20 
Capital programme (i.e. those over £1m in 2019/20).  Appendix 1 provides a 

Page 52



reconciliation of the latest capital programme budget for 2019/20 to the version 
approved in the 2019/20 Budget Report.   Appendix 2 shows the major projects 
over the three year period 2019/20 to 2021/22. 

 
Table 17 – Capital Programme 2019/20 (Major Projects)   
 

2018/19 Capital Programme Budget 
Report 

(February 
2019) 

Revised 
Budget 

Spend to 
31 May 
2019 

 

Spent to Date 
(Revised 
Budget) 

 £m £m £m % 

GENERAL FUND     

Schools - School Places Programme 11.0 11.1 0.4 4% 

Schools - Other (inc. Minor) Capital Works 1.4 5.9 0.1 2% 

Highways & Bridges - LBL 3.5 3.5 0.1 3% 

Highways & Bridges - TfL 0.0 2.2 0.0 0% 

Highways & Bridges - Others 0.0 2.1 0.0 0% 

Catford town centre 5.5 5.1 0.1 2% 

Asset Management Programme   2.5 2.0 0.3 15% 

Smart Working Programme  0.9 2.3 0.8 35% 

Beckenham Place Park 2.5 2.4 0.9 38% 

Heathside & Lethbridge Regeneration 0.0 0.6 0.0 0% 

Excalibur  Regeneration 0.0 1.7 0.2 12% 

Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition 6.0 3.0 0.0 0% 

Private Sector Grants and Loans (inc. DFG) 1.3 3.8 0.1 3% 

Achilles St. Development 0.0 7.3 0.0 0% 

Ladywell Leisure Centre Development Site 0.0 1.0 0.0 0% 

Edward St. Development 9.1 9.1 0.0 0% 

Residential Portfolio Acquisition – Hyde 
Housing Association 

0.0 45.7 25.5 56% 

Travellers Site Relocation  1.1 1.1 0.0 0% 

Fleet Replacement Programme 0.0 7.8 0.0 0% 

Other General Fund schemes 2.2 5.6 0.0 0% 

TOTAL GENERAL FUND 47.0 123.3 28.5 23% 

     

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT     

Housing Matters Programme 37.3 21.0 0.3 1% 

Decent Homes Programme 57.1 51.4 1.8 3% 

Other HRA schemes 0.8 1.6 0.1 4% 

TOTAL HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 95.2 74.0 2.2 3% 

     

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 142.2 197.3 30.7 16% 

 

13.3 The main sources of financing the programme are grants and contributions, and 
capital receipts from the sale of property assets. Some £5.8m has been received so 
far this year, comprising £4.1m (net) from Housing Right to buy sales and other 
capital receipts and £1.7m of grants and contributions. 

13.4 The paragraphs below set out further detail regarding the major capital 
programmes: 

 

13.5 Schools – School Places Programme  
 
Primary place demand has levelled off recently across London and the priority for 
school place delivery has shifted mainly to Special Educational Need and 
Disability provision. Four schemes are currently in development and delivery over 
the next 3 years to 2021. They include:  
 

Page 53



• Works to Ashmead Primary in Brockley to expand from one to two forms of entry. 
Works have commenced in April this year and are due to be completed by 
summer next year. The project will deliver a new standalone block adjacent to 
Lewisham Way, improved landscaping within the site and a new entrance and 
enhanced public realm area to the South of the site.  
 
• Greenvale School, in Whitefoot ward, is Lewisham’s community special school 
for children and young people between the ages of 11 and 19 years who have 
significant learning difficulties. A new satellite facility to accommodate an 
additional 93 students will be constructed on the site of the former Brent Knoll 
building in Perry Vale. The design stage is currently underway, and works are due 
to commence on site in October this year and complete in time for the start of the 
autumn term 2020.  
 
• New Woodlands, in Downham Ward, is a special school which supports children 
from 5 to 16 who have Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH) special 
educational needs. The school recently began admitting Key Stage 4 students, 
and works will take place over the summer holidays this year to ensure there are 
adequate facilities onsite to provide a full curriculum from September 2020. This 
will include minor remodelling and refurbishment of the existing building, provision 
of a new food technology practical room, and improvements to existing 
landscaping and external play areas.  
 
• Watergate is Lewisham’s primary special school for children between the ages of 
three and eleven years who have severe learning difficulties, located in 
Bellingham Ward. Approval has been granted to expand the school by 59 places 
through the construction of a new teaching block on the existing site. The design 
stage commenced in May this year, with works expected to be completed in early 
2021.  

 
13.6 Schools – Minor Works Capital Programme  

 
The School Minor Works Programme (SMWP) is an ongoing programme of minor 
capital works to existing community school buildings, primarily relating to 
mechanical/electrical infrastructure and building fabric needs. The programme is 
grant funded by central government and has been consistently delivered on budget. 

 
 
13.7 Highways & Bridges  

 
The Council continues to invest resources in maintaining its highway assets, most 
notably through its £3.5m programme of carriageway and footway resurfacing 
works. The budget for carriageways allows for 60 to 70 roads to be resurfaced 
each year and, until 2017, the majority of these roads were those in the worst 
condition and categorised as “Red” – lengths of road in poor overall condition and 
in need of immediate further engineering assessment with a planned maintenance 
soon. In 2018 we carried out resurfacing to 67 roads from the Council’s 
programme. As a result of the resurfacing programme, the focus has now moved 
to works to roads classified with Condition Index of “Amber” – lengths of road 
which, without a planned early intervention, could result in further severe defects 
and move the Condition Index to “Red”. Early intervention using appropriate 
design, based on carriageway coring information and other factors like bus routes, 
high volume of traffic, usage and environment will result in better value for money. 
There are still over 300 roads classified as Amber that require essential works and 

Page 54



the Council’s long-term investment strategy is taking effect as since 2013, the 
number of annual insurance claims against the Council for carriageway defects 
has reduced by approximately 50%.  
 
As progress continues on the condition of carriageways, the balance of focus is 
also moving towards the footways programme where there are still approximately 
70 roads categorised as Red. The proposal is to carry out essential footway 
replacement works in at least 10 roads in 2019/20 and expanding this in future 
years.  

 
13.8 Catford Town Centre  

 
Architect’s Studio Egret West has been appointed to develop a master plan to 
guide the regeneration of the Town Centre. The plan will be completed in Autumn 
of 2019 and will form the basis of any future plan for the Town Centre. It will be 
used as an evidence base for the emerging Local Plan. Work is also continuing 
with TfL on the agreed proposal to realign the South Circular A205 through the 
Town Centre and work is expected to start in 2021. Meanwhile, the engagement 
activity of Team Catford has continued to build on the programme of social 
engagement started in 2016. The Team’s work is expected to continue through the 
development of the master plan and beyond.  

 
13.9 Asset Management Programme  

 
Funding from the Asset Management Programme (AMP) has continued to support 
reactive and much needed capital works across the operational corporate estate. 
This has included fabric works such as roof replacement and mechanical works 
including boiler replacements and lift repairs across the estate of approximately 90 
buildings and sites. More recently, the programme has funded works to the Civic 
Suite, Registry Office and some essential works as part of the main Laurence 
House refurbishment programme. A full condition survey of the corporate estate is 
currently under way. The results will help define the future investment need of the 
estate and also underpin the use of the AMP capital programme funding for future 
years.  

 
13.10 Smart Working Programme  

 
The Smarter Working programme seeks to consolidate offices and release sites for 
future redevelopment in Catford town centre, whilst refurbishing the council’s main 
office site, Laurence House, to ensure it is fit for purpose until new council offices 
can be built. The ground floor has been refurbished to provide a modern, welcoming 
and better functioning reception for the council. It opened to staff and the public in 
October 2018. Work has commenced on refurbishing floors 1 to 5, improving and 
extending toilet provision, delivering new meeting rooms and kitchens, improving 
the heating and ventilation system, new energy efficient LED lighting, decoration 
and a layout and furniture which supports and encourages agile working. The 
programme of work will continue until the autumn of 2019, one floor at a time. 

 
13.11 Beckenham Place Park  

 
The restoration of Beckenham Place Park (to the western side of the railway) will 
be completed in 2019/20. Listed buildings, now restored, will become alive again 
with new uses and the long anticipated restored landscape, with its reinstated 
lake, will be enjoyed by thousands of local people. The Georgian stable block will 

Page 55



become the new park café, and a base for environmental education in the park. 
The stable yard itself will become an arrival and visitor’s hub, with a terrace 
overlooking the expanded formal gardens. New play facilities will be available in 
the restored pleasure grounds, and the previously derelict Gardener’s cottage will 
be re-purposed as a hub for volunteer activity in the park, in the midst of the new 
community garden. Open water swimming will take place in the lake, and visitors 
will be encouraged to explore the breadth and nature of Lewisham’s largest park 
on new paths and trails.  

 
13.12 Lewisham Homes – Property Acquisition  

 
This funding supports the delivery of the Lewisham Homes acquisitions 
programme that secures properties for temporary accommodation for homeless 
households, making a saving on the Council’s spend on bed & breakfast 
accommodation.  

 
13.13 Achilles Street 
 

Work is underway to deliver a Resident Ballot on the Achilles Street Estate in New 
Cross to determine if the estate should be redeveloped to provide additional new 
homes. 

 
13.14 Edward Street  

 
Edward St will provide 34 new high-quality temporary accommodation homes for 
local families in housing need. Start on site planned early 2020 following tender 
and contractor appointment.  

 
13.15 Residential Portfolio Acquisition – Hyde Housing Association 
 

The acquisition of a portfolio currently comprising 120 residential properties from 
Hyde Housing Association, as per a report to Mayor & Cabinet on 13 March 2019. 

 
13.16 Fleet vehicle replacement 

 
This budget will finance the replacement of 75 vehicles in the Council’s fleet in 
order to meet the approaching Low Emissions Zone (LEZ) changes in October 
2020. 

 
13.17 Housing Matters Programmes update  

 
The majority of spend in 2019/20 will relate to feasibility and planning application 
preparation for the new homes programme and delivery of a number of schemes 
by Lewisham Homes on site. Around 27 sites including 376 homes for social rent, 
are forecast to achieve planning permission by early 2020. 5 schemes delivering 
85 homes are currently on site and a further 14 sites delivering 122 homes are 
forecast to start on site between April and January 2020.  

 
13.18 Decent Homes Programme  

 
Lewisham Homes are responsible for ensuring council owned stock under their 
management is brought up to and maintained to a decent homes level, covering 
both internal and external enveloping works. Lewisham Homes are leading on the 

Page 56



delivery of the decent homes programme (under delegated powers) in consultation 
/ agreement with the Council. 

 
14. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
14.1 This report concerns the financial forecasts for the 2019/20 financial year.  However, 

there are no direct financial implications in noting these. 
 
 
15. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
15.1 The Council must act prudently in relation to the stewardship of Council taxpayers’ 

funds.  The Council must set and maintain a balanced budget. 
 
 
16.  CRIME AND DISORDER ACT IMPLICATIONS 
  
16.1 There are no crime and disorder implications directly arising from this report. 
 
 
17. EQUALITIES AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
17.1  There are no equalities or environmental implications directly arising from this 

report.  
 
 
18. CONCLUSION 
 
18.1 The council will continue to apply sound financial controls throughout the duration 

of the financial year.  However, the short and medium term outlook remains 
difficult and challenging.  Strong management and fiscal discipline will be required 
to enable the council to meet its financial targets for 2019/20 and beyond.  
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS AND APPENDICES 
  
Short Title of Report 
 

Date Location Contact 

Financial Outturn for 
2018/19 

26th June 2019 
(M&C) 

1st Floor Laurence 
House 

Selwyn 
Thompson 

2019/20 Budget 27th February 
2019 (Council) 

1st Floor Laurence 
House 

David Austin 

 
 

For further information on this report, please contact:  
Selwyn Thompson, Director of Financial Services on 020 8314 6932  

  

Page 57



 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Revised 2019/20 Capital Programme (Approved to Latest Budget)  
 

  Total  Total 

     

  £’000  £’000 

APPROVED CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGET     
     

Full Council – 27 February 2019    142,158 
     
     

Underspends carried-forward from 2018/19    6,876 
     
     

New Schemes      
Residential Portfolio Acquisition – Hyde Housing Assoc  45,700   
Schools Minor Works Programme 19/20  3,249   
Fleet Vehicle Replacement Programme 19/20  7,798   
LIP Programme 19/20  2,196   
Ladywell Leisure Centre Development Site  1,000   
Chelwood Nursery Expansion 2019  290   
Brookmill Road Nature Reserve Environment 
Improvements   60   
19 Yeoman St. – Improvement works   52   
Foster Memorial Park Improvements   46   
Brockley Rise Centre – Lift Modernisation Project  130  60,521 

     
     
Approved variations on existing schemes     
     
Disabled Facilities Grant   639   
Achilles St. Development   7,250   
Asset Management Programme   500   
Better Office Space    246   
Watson Street Streetscape Improvements   130   
School Places Programme  95       8,860 

     
Re- Phasing Budgets (Housing Revenue Account)      
Housing Matters Programme   (16,240)   
Decent Homes Programme 
Other Schemes  

(5,677) 
801  (21,116) 

     

Revised Capital Programme Budget 2019/20    197,299 

     
 

 
 

Page 58



 

 
 
Appendix 2 – Major Progammes over £2m (2019/20 to 2020/23)  

 
 

      

Major Projects over £2m 
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 Total 

£m £m £m £m 

          

GENERAL FUND      

Schools - School Places Programme 11.1 8.0 1.2 20.3 
Schools – Minor Works Capital 
Programme 3.9   3.9 

Schools - Other Capital Works 2.0   2.0 

Highways & Bridges - TfL 2.2   2.2 

Highways & Bridges - LBL 3.5 3.5 3.5 10.5 

Catford town centre 5.1 0.8 1.1 7.0 

Asset Management Programme   2.0         2.4 
          

2.5 6.9 

Smart Working Programme  2.3   2.3 

Beckenham Place Park 2.4 0.6 0.4 3.4 
Lewisham Homes – Property 
Acquisition 3.0   3.0 
Residential Portfolio Acquisition – 
Hyde Housing Assoc. 45.7   45.7 

Disabled Facilities Grant 2.1 0.7  2.8 

Private Sector Grants and Loans 1.7 0.6 0.6 2.9 

Edward St. Development 9.1   9.1 

Fleet Replacement Programme 7.8 0.8 0.8 9.4 

Other Schemes 19.4 0.3 0.8 20.4 

       

  123.3 17.7 10.9 151.8 

      

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT      

Housing Matters Programme 21.0 46.0 86.1 153.1 

Decent Homes Programme       51.4 37.2 30.6 119.2 

Other Schemes 1.6 0.9 0.9 3.4 

       

  74.0 84.1 117.6 275.7 

          

TOTAL PROGRAMME 197.3 101.8 128.5 427.5 

 
 
  

     
     

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Public Accounts Select Committee 

Title Commercialisation and culture change in-depth review: scoping report 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager 

Class Part 1 (open) 10 July 2019 

 
1. Purpose of this paper 
 
1.1. At its meeting on 13 June 2019, the Committee considered an update from officers on 

income generation and commercialisation. The Committee also reviewed, discussed 
and agreed the final report and recommendations from its work in 2018-19 on income 
generation. This included the research and analysis carried out by Vice-Chair of the 
Committee (Cllr Krupski). 

 
1.2. The Committee agreed that it would continue to investigate the issues of income 

generation and commercialisation throughout the 2019-20 municipal year. This paper 
sets out options for scrutiny and it also provides some potential ‘key lines of enquiry’ 
for the year to help structure Committee discussions. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1. The Select Committee is asked to: 

 note the contents of this report; 

 consider what outcomes it would like to achieve; 

 discuss and decide on key lines of enquiry; 

 agree a timetable for scrutiny of this issue. 
 
3. Policy context 
 
3.1. The Local Government Act (2003) and Localism Act (2011) gave councils powers to 

charge for discretionary services as well as a general power of competence, under 
which they have the power to do anything that individuals generally may do (which is 
not expressly prohibited by other legislation). 

 
3.2. Lewisham  has recently adopted a new corporate strategy, which sets out the 

following priorities: 

 Open Lewisham – Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all where we 
celebrate the diversity that strengthens us. 

 Tackling the housing crisis – everyone has a decent home that is secure and 
affordable. 

 Giving children and young people the best start in life – every child has access to 
an outstanding and inspiring education and it given the support they need to keep 
them safe, well and able to achieve their full potential. 

 Building and inclusive local economy – everyone can access high-quality job 
opportunities with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local 
economy. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



 

 Delivering and defending: health, social care and support – ensuring everyone 
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they need. 

 Making Lewisham greener – everyone enjoys out green spaces and benefits from 
a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local environment. 

 Building safer communities - every resident feels safe and secure living here as we 
work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime. 

 
3.3. Efforts to improve the Council’s culture in order to ensure that its employees are: 

achieving best value for money; working to protect services from cuts; and focusing on 
delivering quality for customers – ought to support the delivery of quality services and 
the implementation the priorities in the corporate strategy. Accordingly, the contents of 
this report are consistent with all of the priorities in the new strategy. 
 

3.4. Regular financial forecasts and performance reports to the Committee over the past 
year have detailed the Council’s ongoing challenge to balance its budgets. There 
remain significant pressures in children’s social care and in the Customer Services 
Directorate budgets. The Council’s financial results - reported to the Committee at its 
June meeting - showed that there was an overall overspend of £9.4m against the 
directorates’ net general fund revenue budget for the financial year 2018/19. This was 
after the application of £6m to support the children’s social care budget. The final 
overspend position as at the end of March 2019 of £9.4m compared to a projected 
year outturn position of £9.9m as at the end of January 2019.      

 
4. Meeting the criteria for a review 
 
4.1. The issue of commercialisation and culture change has been identified by the 

Committee as a topic for review, because it is: 

 it is a strategic and significant issue for the Council and its finances; 

 It has the potential to affect a large number of people living, working or studying in 
Lewisham (as well as the potential to have a disproportionate impact on small 
groups of people); 

 The Council is developing this area of work. 
 
5. Commercialisation and culture change 
 
5.1. Local government is nearing the end of a decade of unrelenting financial austerity. 

Cuts to council services across the country brought about by the Government’s 
reduction in councils’ core funding have been unprecedented. Councils have sought to 
innovate by: rationalising services; cutting provision; and working with partners in the 
private and community sectors. In addition, councils have been forced to consider how 
to make best use of their assets. 

 
5.2. Generating income is an ambition for many councils. It is seen as one way to lessen 

the impact of the reduction in resources from Government whilst maintaining services 
that communities have come to rely on. This has also been the case in Lewisham. A 
full overview of the Public Accounts Select Committee’s previous work in this area is 
included in the 2018-19 strategic income generation and commercialisation in-depth 

Page 62



 

review report1. Public Accounts Select Committee has led on this area of work and 
intends to continue to do so. 
 

5.3. Councillor Louise Krupski (Committee Vice-Chair) has developed a scrutiny 
specialism on the issue of income generation and commercialisation. As 
comprehensively reported in last year’s in-depth review report, Cllr Krupski has 
attended a number of training events, briefings and visits to better understand the 
issues surrounding council income generation and learn from best practice. In scrutiny 
this role can be described as being a ‘rapporteur’. 
 

5.4. As a result of last year’s review – and with guidance from Cllr Krupski as rapporteur – 
the issue of culture change has been identified as a key area for future in-depth 
scrutiny. The recommendation from the Committee was that:  
 

5.5. The detailed review by PAC, agreed for 2019-20, should examine income generation 
and commercialisation, under the following headings: (how will the Council): 

 Shape internal governance – develop the structure and accountability needed, 
including the role of scrutiny; 

 Determine ‘red lines’ and ethical dimensions; 

 Deal with risks and conflicts of interest; 

 Shape external governance (e.g. of Teckal2 businesses or other arms-length 
organisations); 

 Develop training and staff development – both of officers and members; 

 Create a workable, vibrant and positive commercial culture? 
 

5.6. The questions posed by the Committee encompass a broad range of interrelated 
issues which include, but are not limited to: 

 The purpose of the constitution and the structures in place for decision making; 

 The formulation and adoption of Council policy and the role of corporate 
leadership; 

 Processes for assessing and managing risk; 

 The strategy for people management; 

 The Council’s plans for transformation. 
 

5.7. They also relate to broader issues about the ethos of local government and the 
relationship between the Council and Lewisham’s community. Accordingly, the 
following sections are presented under a number of key headings – which are based 
on the Committee’s recommendation. The two principal headings are ‘governance’ – 
and ‘culture change’. 
 
Governance 
 

5.8. This section seeks to provide a basis from which to answer the following questions 
posed by the Committee: 
 

                                                           
1 Public Accounts Select Committee (Spring 2019) strategic income generation and commercialisation in-
depth review: online here: link  
2 Teckal exemption refers to an arrangement for trading between a local authority and legally separate local 
authority trading company. 

Page 63

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s65971/07%20Appendix%20C%20-%20Income%20generation%20report%20130619.pdf


 

How will the Council: 

 Shape internal governance – develop the structure and accountability needed, 
including the role of scrutiny; 

 Shape external governance (e.g. Teckal businesses or other arms-length 
organisations); 

 Determine the Council’s ‘red-lines’ and ethical dimensions; 

 Deal with risks and conflicts of interest? 
 
5.9. Decision making at Lewisham Council is determined by the constitution, the aims and 

purposes of which is to: 

 Lead to effective and efficient Council decision making 

 Make it clear to local people who is making decisions on their behalf 

 Give Councillors and local people greater opportunity to engage directly 

 Set out clearly the arrangement for local political governance 

 Separate decision making from scrutiny of those decisions to create greater 
accountability 

 
5.10. The agreement, amendment and oversight of the constitution is a matter reserved to 

the full council. Any person (including members of the executive and senior officers) 
making a decision on behalf of the authority is bound by the following principles3: 
(a)  The decision will be made following an evaluation of options as appropriate;  
(b)  The decision maker will take professional advice (including financial and legal 

advice where the decision may have legal and/or financial consequences); 
(c)  The decision will be taken following a consideration of all relevant matters and 

disregarding irrelevancies;  
(d)  Reasons for the decision will be recorded as will details of options considered with 

reasons for their rejection;  
(e)  Action taken will be proportionate to the result to be achieved;  
(f)  Respect for human rights will be balanced with the Council’s duty to the wider 

community;  
(g)  A presumption in favour of openness, unless there are compelling lawful reasons 

preventing the consideration of matters in public; 
(h)  Consultation appropriate to the matter under consideration;  
(i) Clarity of aims and desired outcomes;  
(j) The highest standards of ethical conduct, avoiding actual, potential and perceived 

conflicts of interest. 
 
5.11. All decisions relating to commercialisation, income generation and investment activity 

are required to adhere to these principles. The member and officer codes of conduct 
for elected officials and Council employees (respectively) are in place to manage 
adherence to these principles. 
 
Key decisions 

 
5.12. Decisions which meet certain thresholds are termed ‘key decisions’ and are usually 

reserved to the Executive, full Council or senior officers. The process for making these 
decisions is set out in the scheme of delegation, which is approved in public at the 
Council’s annual general meeting at the beginning of each municipal year. Financial 

                                                           
3 See Lewisham Council Constitution (2019), Article 16 (p72 onwards): link  

Page 64

https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-is-run/our-constitution


 

decisions resulting in expenditure above £500k; those with an impact on more than 
one ward; the setting of fees and charges and proposals for significant changes to the 
delivery of a Council service are all ‘key decisions’. 
 

5.13. Major decisions in relation to income generation projects are likely to meet the 
threshold for key decisions – and would be required to meet the principles for decision 
making – as set out above. Projects that require novel approaches to governance are 
subject to the constitutional principles for transparent decision making, a recent 
notable example was the creation of the shared IT service – initially with Brent Council 
– with a later amendment to include Southwark Council. 
 

5.14. Brent/Lewisham/Southwark shared IT services are overseen by a joint committee, 
through a statutory governance framework4. The process of decision making through 
the joint committee – as well as procedures for delegation to its constituent councils 
and its arrangements for delegation of decision making to officers are set out in the 
framework agreed by the three councils (in line with their own constitutions and 
principles for decision making)5. 
 

5.15. Mutualisation of the Council’s youth services – required the development of a new 
model for operation – as well as legal and contractual arrangements to be put in place 
with the newly formed service. At all stages of development, the proposals were 
subject to scrutiny – including by a dedicated time-limited scrutiny sub-committee6. 
 

5.16. Joint delivery of replacement street lighting with Croydon Council through with a 
private contractor using PFI arrangements also demonstrated Lewisham’s ability to 
successfully establish purpose driven governance arrangements for new projects. 
 

5.17. Catford Regeneration Partnership Limited (CRPL) is a wholly owned company of 
Lewisham Council. The company was originally created in January 2010 to purchase 
the leasehold interests in and around the Catford Centre in order to manage and 
regenerate the assets and to improve the economic, social and environmental 
wellbeing of the people of Lewisham. It provides a further example of the Council’s 
capacity to innovate – and to incorporate different approaches within existing 
governance arrangements on a case by case basis. 
 

5.18. Besson Street joint purpose vehicle was set up to deliver housing in New Cross Gate. 
The Council has established a partnership with the private sector in order to meet the 
ambition in the corporate strategy to deliver new affordable homes for the people of 
Lewisham. The development of proposals for the creation of the vehicle have been 
subject to scrutiny by Lewisham’s Housing Select Committee – including in the 
Committee’s ‘Models of delivering new housing’ in-depth review (2018)7 

 

                                                           
4 Pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, the Local Government Act 2000, the Localism Act 2011 and the 
Local Authorities (Arrangements for the discharge of functions) England Regulations 2012. 
5 See Report from the Head of Digital Services (October 2017) to the Joint Committee of the London 
Boroughs of Lewisham and Brent: link 
6 See the final report of the youth service working group (2015) for more information: link 
7 Housing Select Committee (2018) ‘Models of delivering new housing’ in-depth review: link 

Page 65

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53419/Service%20Overview%20-%20The%20Shared%20ICT%20Service%20for%20Brent%20and%20Lewisham%20-%20April%202016%20to%20October%202017.pdf
https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/imported/youthserviceworkinggroup.ashx
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s54809/04%20Housing%20delivery%20-%20draft%20report%20-%20310118.pdf#page15


 

5.19. The Council has adopted a code of practice8 for suppliers and service providers – in 
order to direct contractual arrangements with external providers. The Code specifies 
core principles for sustainability: 

 Social considerations – ensuring that products and services are sourced and 
produced responsibly, under a set of internationally acceptable social and ethical 
guidelines and standards. 

 Environmental considerations – maximising resource and energy efficiency in the 
manufacturing and supply process in order to minimise environmental impacts. 

 Economic considerations – delivering outstanding value for money over the lifetime 
of the contract.  

 
5.20. The Council expects that all suppliers wishing to enter into contracting arrangements 

with it will adhere to the code. Any commercial activity set up by the Council would 
also need to give consideration to the Code. Nonetheless, the Council has a policy 
framework – and decision making principles – in place to oversee the development 
and delivery of projects on a case by case basis. This process enables each case to 
be examined on its merits – and weighed against the Council’s existing policies, 
strategies and existing operations. 
 
The role of the income board  
 
The Committee is interested in better understanding: 

 How the Council manages risk well so as not to unnecessary stifle projects but 
instead create a system that mitigates and tackles possible risks? 

 How structures can be established to asses all risks - political, financial, single 
project and compound? 

 How and who will monitor commercial activity on an ongoing basis and when 
scrutiny should intervene and how? 

 
5.21. The Council’s Income Board is comprised of the income leads for each directorate as 

well as the Head of HR and Organisational Development, Head of Law and Head of 
Finance. Additional members are required on an ad hoc basis from specific services. 
The Board meets on an eight-weekly basis. There is a standing item on the agenda for 
the Council’s executive management team to receive updates from the income board.  

 

                                                           
8 Sustainable Procurement Code of Practice for all organisations who wish to contract with the Council: link 

Page 66

https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/imported/codeofpracticecontractors.ashx


 

5.22. The flowchart above (reproduced from the Council’s income generation strategy) sets 
out the process for consideration of business cases by the income board. The titles in 
ovals represent the production of a report – those in the rectangles represent 
consideration by the named group/body9. 
 

5.23. The actions of the income board are directed by the Council’s decision making 
structures and codes of conduct. 
 

Considering cultural change 
 
‘Commercialisation must involve cultural changes – a shift in attitudes towards more 
innovation, more responsiveness to local people, and an attuned sense of how a more 
entrepreneurial council can continue to meet its residents’ needs.’ 
Risk and Commercialisation: a guide for local scrutiny councillors10 p15 

 
5.24. In the course of evidence gathering for the 2018-19 in-depth income generation and 

commercialisation review the Committee identified the need for further investigation 
into the options for: 

 Creating a workable, vibrant and positive commercial culture. 

 Developing training and staff development both of officers and members 
 

5.25. Recently published research by the Association for Public Service Excellence, with the 
Centre for Public Scrutiny found that scrutiny worked best when it focused on culture 
and on outcomes for local people: ‘Scrutiny has to be underpinned by an 
understanding of the cultural transformation necessary in councils seeking to adopt 
more commercial approaches to their work’. 
 

5.26. Strategic objective (2) – of the Council’s agreed income generation strategy (agreed in 
spring 2019) prioritises the development of ‘a commercial culture with the necessary 
skillset fostered and supported organisationally.’ The strategy commits to ensuring 
that: 

 Training will be offered corporately to develop appropriate commercial awareness 
and the skills needed to evaluate options as part of the business case appraisal 
process. 

 Templates and guidance will be provided to support the business case appraisal 
process and any associated tasks. 

 Signposting to external bodies of information and best-practice resources will be 
provided to all staff, as well as strategic use of external sources of commercial 
acumen as needed.  

 Commercial awareness and understanding will be built into performance appraisal 
processes where appropriate. 

 
5.27. At its meeting in June 2019, the Committee heard from the Council’s Strategic 

Procurement and Commercial Services manager about the thinking being applied to 
the issue of cultural change. Moreover, in the update report to the Committee, it was 
recognised that: ‘…the successful implementation of the Income Generation Strategy 

                                                           
9 DMT – directorate management team of senior managers in each of the Council’s four directorates; EMT – 
executive management team – of the chief executive and the Council’s most senior officers. 
10 Association for Public Service Excellence with the Centre for Public Scrutiny (2019) Risk and 
Commercialisation: a guide for local scrutiny councillors: link 

Page 67

https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/risk-and-commercialisation-a-guide-for-local-scrutiny-councillors/


 

will not be enough to create the necessary culture change to a commercial mind-set 
and approach that will be required… what is needed is a full training and development 
programme to ensure an engaged workforce who see the value in commercialisation 
and income generation…’ Integral to this approach is the development of an 
understanding by officers that increased commercial thinking is vital to the protection 
of frontline services. 

 
5.28. Contact has already been made with the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 

– who were recognised in the Municipal Journal Awards as an ‘Entrepreneurial 
Council’ – to arrange a fact finding visit regarding their transformation programme: 

 
Barking & Dagenham has a whole council approach to commercialisation. This is central to 
its transformation programme and new operating model, facilitating entrepreneurship in 
ways not possible in a traditional local authority structure. The large and diverse 
commercial portfolio the council has designed and developed is carefully curated to 
maximise synergies and relationships between the different ventures and entities for 
additional financial gain and to deliver social value impact. The ecosystem of commercial 
activities serves a single, joined-up commercial strategy, an integral part of the council’s 
overall growth-focused transformation agenda and long-term financial future.11 

 
5.29. Council officers are not typically thought of as business minded or entrepreneurial in 

character. Research12 with council employees nationally for the local government 
association found that the most common motivation to work in local government was 
‘public service ethos’, which: ’…can be characterised by accountability, community 
responsibility, customer services and integrity’ (p10). Moreover, the same research 
found that ‘…once people started to work for councils they found the hierarchical 
culture and poor management stifled their ability to innovate’ (p13). The Committee 
may choose to draw on this research in order to inform its questions about the 
Council’s culture. 
 

5.30. The Committee may also wish to review recent data from recent employee surveys, to 
determine whether there are any insights into the current state of commercial thinking 
amongst employees. It could also consider the available data from exit surveys and 
other relevant consultations. However, as identified in previous discussions at the 
Committee, a central element of the answer to any question about change at the 
Council is in the position taken by the Council’s leadership. 

 
6. Key lines of enquiry (KLOE) 
 
6.1 It is proposed that the commercialisation and culture change in-depth review 2019-20 

focuses on the following two key lines of enquiry: 
 

Key line of enquiry 1: creating a workable, vibrant and positive commercial culture 
 
Key questions: 

 How can we instil a more commercial mindset throughout the Council? 

                                                           
11 Municipal Journal (2019) Entrepreneurial Council: link 
12 New local government network in association with the Local Government Association (2016), thinking 

outside the box – the council workforce of tomorrow: link 

Page 68

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.lgcplus.com_home_lgc-2Dawards-2D2019-2Dthe-2Dwinners_entrepreneurial-2Dcouncil_7027688.article-3Fblocktitle-3DEntrepreneurial-2Dcouncil-26contentID-3D28264&d=DwMGaQ&c=OMjwGp47Ad5otWI0__lpOg&r=7Ro4sZSBxSG5tIQdDwc-T6-lpzkY0M-8NVgTVtIVJzo&m=UfhxpSpGdBAwdG8mfxQPzZGb84Bdiwic09hzncWCZuI&s=JHXo0HCP-1MjVOpkDVH_OjRluwacqGkmotDibRxbu4M&e=
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/outside-box-ab0.pdf#page15


 

 How will the Council encourage and provide the structures necessary for officers at 
any level to instigate new ideas? 

 How will the council take more of a collective responsibility and lessen any blame 
culture so that officers have the freedom to act? 

 Are there any corporate structures in place that could be hindering this kind of 
work?  If so how should they be changed? 

 How do we create a culture where risk is talked about openly and candidly for 
courageous ideas to be brought forward? 

 How do we use the generation of income itself to motivate officers? Do we allow 
departments to keep back generated income for further innovative projects or does 
all the income come back centrally? 

 How does the council breed a culture of understanding among officers and 
members that this is positive change and done for the very best possible reasons 
and outcomes? 

 Are the structures in place to do good constructive performance management of 
projects? 

Key line of enquiry 2: training and development for officers and members 
 
Key questions: 

 Does the council have officers with the right skills and training to do this work? If 
not, how can a training programme be put in place and what are the resource 
implications of this? 

 Do officers have enough time? How will projects be organised so that the every-
day work of the council is not adversely affected? 

 
7. Timetable  
 
7.1. The Committee is asked to consider and agree the outline timetable below: 
 

August/September 2019 
Visit by Members of PAC to the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham to discuss 
culture change with the cabinet member and officers (to answer the questions posed 
under KLOE1) 

 
September/October 2019 
Visit to another enterprising Council (tbd) (to answer the questions posed under 
KLOE1) 

 
6 November 2019 
Report back from Committee members on visits. 

 
An invitation to the Council’s Head of Organisational Development and Human 
Resources to outline current staff development and training which supports the 
development of a more entrepreneurial council – incorporating challenge on the 
Council’s approach to implementing the income generation strategy (to answer the 
questions under KLOE2) 

 

Page 69



 

Update on income generation and commercialisation activities from the Strategic 
Procurement and Commercial Services Manager (to answer the questions posed 
under KLOE1) 
 
16 December 2019 
Questions for the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources on leading and 
implementing change – in line with the Council’s corporate strategy and policy 
framework (to answer the questions posed under KLOE1) 
 
Update from officers on the implementation of the Council’s transformation 
programme (to answer the questions posed under KLOE1) 
 
January 2020 
Pilot commercialisation training session for members (to answer the questions posed 
under KLOE1 and 2) 

 
In addition, the Committee should continue its support for a scrutiny rapporteur – to 
attend training and development opportunities in order to build expertise in this area. 

 
5 February 2020 
Final report and recommendations for submission to Mayor and Cabinet 

 
8. Monitoring and ongoing scrutiny 

 
8.1. Given the complexity of this issue, and the considerable level of interest that there has 

been in it over a number of years, the Committee should consider how this issue 
should be scrutinised beyond this review. It should be noted that – as per the 
recommendations of the Democracy Review13 – there is currently a review being 
carried out into the practice and approach to overview and scrutiny. The Committee’s 
plans for future scrutiny of income generation and commercialisation initiatives will 
need to give this due consideration.  
 

9. Further implications 
  
9.1. At this stage there are no specific financial, legal, environmental or equalities 

implications to consider arising from the implementation of the recommendations in 
this report. However, there will be implications arising from the issues considered over 
the course of the year, these will need to be considered in due course.  

  

                                                           
13 Lewisham Democracy review final report: link  

Page 70

https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/localdemocracyreviewreport.ashx


 

10. Background papers 
 

Title: Date: 

Lewisham Council Income Strategy and Guidance February 2015 

Income generation review scoping report March 2015 

Income generation review evidence session 1 April 2015 

Income generation review evidence session 2 July 2015 

Income generation review evidence session 3 September 2015 

Income generation review final report and recommendations October 2015 

Response from Mayor and Cabinet to the recommendations of 
PASC on income generation 

March 2016 

Income generation 6 month update July 2016 

Income generation opportunities review October 2016 

Income generation update November 2016 

Income generation and commercialisation  June 2017 

Income generation and commercialisation update September 2017 

Income generation and commercialisation update March 2018 

Income strategy update September 2018  

Income strategy update December 2018 

Income strategy report for Mayor and Cabinet   February 2019 

Income Strategy Update March 2019 

 
  

Page 71

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s35464/05IncomeGenerationAppendixA140415.pdf
https://tinyurl.com/y89nd2b9
https://tinyurl.com/ycl327ux
https://tinyurl.com/y6wjmznj
https://tinyurl.com/ybur4wt6
https://tinyurl.com/y88mofo6
https://tinyurl.com/y83ubp4q
https://tinyurl.com/y83ubp4q
https://tinyurl.com/y8fdetry
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s46850/04%20Appendix%202%20income%20generation%20update%20-%20301116.pdf
https://tinyurl.com/ycob932e
https://lewishamcouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/intranet/Pages/default.aspx
https://tinyurl.com/y9d3o2vp
https://tinyurl.com/y7vghfnu
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s59432/06%20Income%20generation%20update%20250918.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61475/07%20Income%20generation%20201218.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s62470/Income%20Generation%20Update.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s63505/04%20Income%20generation%20and%20commercialisation%20200319.pdf


 

Sources 
 
Association for Public Service Excellence with the Centre for Public Scrutiny (2019) Risk 
and Commercialisation: a guide for local scrutiny councillors 
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/risk-and-
commercialisation-a-guide-for-local-scrutiny-councillors/  
Local Government Association - supporting enterprising councils: 
https://www.local.gov.uk/enterprising-councils-supporting-councils-income-generation-
activity 
Lisa Bibby consulting (2016) - Lewisham Income Generation Opportunities review: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s46850/04 Appendix 2 income 
generation update - 301116.pdf 
Lewisham Council Budget 2018-19: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s55304/2018%2019%20Budget.pdf 
Lewisham Council income generation guidance (2015) 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s35464/05IncomeGenerationAppendixA
140415.pdf 
Lewisham Council’s risk management strategy 2017-2020 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53876/Risk%20Mangement%20Strate
gy.pdf 
Lewisham Council constitution: 
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-is-run/our-
constitution 
Lewisham Democracy review final report: 
https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/localdemocracyreviewreport.ashx 
Lewisham Council, Sustainable Procurement Code of Practice for all organisations who 
wish to contract with the Council: https://lewisham.gov.uk/-
/media/files/imported/codeofpracticecontractors.ashx  
New Local Government Network/Local Government Association, Outside the Box: the 
Council workforce of tomorrow (2016) 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/outside-box-ab0.pdf 
 
For further information about this report please contact Timothy Andrew, Scrutiny Manager 
(timothy.andrew@lewisham.gov.uk) 
 
  

Page 72

https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/risk-and-commercialisation-a-guide-for-local-scrutiny-councillors/
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/index.cfm/research/current-research-programme/risk-and-commercialisation-a-guide-for-local-scrutiny-councillors/
https://www.local.gov.uk/enterprising-councils-supporting-councils-income-generation-activity
https://www.local.gov.uk/enterprising-councils-supporting-councils-income-generation-activity
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s55304/2018%2019%20Budget.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s35464/05IncomeGenerationAppendixA140415.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s35464/05IncomeGenerationAppendixA140415.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53876/Risk%20Mangement%20Strategy.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s53876/Risk%20Mangement%20Strategy.pdf
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-is-run/our-constitution
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/how-council-is-run/our-constitution
https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/localdemocracyreviewreport.ashx
https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/imported/codeofpracticecontractors.ashx
https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/imported/codeofpracticecontractors.ashx
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/outside-box-ab0.pdf
mailto:timothy.andrew@lewisham.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 
 
Key decisions (as defined by the Council’s constitution) 
 
(a) Decisions which will be likely to result in Council expenditure or savings of £500,000 or 
more (save treasury management transactions taken in accordance with the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy as approved by the Council)  
(b) Any decision likely to be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working 
in an area comprising two or more wards, whether the impact is direct (e.g. where the 
decision relates to a road which crosses a ward boundary) or indirect (e.g. where the 
decision relates to the provision or withdrawal of a service which is or would be used by 
people from two or more wards)  
Decisions will still be deemed to affect more than one ward even if one or more of the 
wards affected is outside the borough.  
(c) The Council will also define all executive decisions which relate to matters within the 
categories listed below as key decisions whatever their financial impact, and irrespective of 
the number of wards affected by them:-  

(i) Consideration of any report prepared by an external organisation (e.g. OFSTED) into 
the performance of the Council whether in general or in relation to a particular case, 
including the Council’s response to it.  
(ii) the closure or significant change in the character of a school or other educational 
facility.  
(iii) consideration of any report relating to the possibility of the withdrawal of delegation of 
budget from a school  
(iv) the giving of any statutory notice to a school or other educational establishment  
(v) directions relating to the use and occupation of school premises  
(vi) decisions relating to schools admission policy and standard numbers for schools  
(vii) the making of instruments of government for schools  
(viii) policies relating to special needs, attendance and exclusion, awards, charging and 
remission  
(ix) the Council’s scheme for the financing of maintained schools  
(x) closure of, or significant reduction in provision of, any Council service  
(xi) where the decision is one which will involve a significant change in the manner of 
Council service provision,  
(xii) the fixing of fees and charges for Council services 
(xiii) granting or withdrawing financial support to any voluntary sector organisation in 
excess of £10,000 (excluding financial support to any organisation which is funded by 
government initiatives e.g. European Funding)  
(xiv) writing off any bad debt in excess of £50,000, unless the Council has within the last 
3 years already written off debts for the person/organisation concerned totalling that 
amount in which case any further write off would be a key decision  
(xv) the disposal of any Council property for less than best consideration  
(xvi) the disposal of any interest in Council property with a value of £500,000 or more  
(xvii) the taking by the Council of an interest in land worth £500,000 or more  
(xviii) the granting of any interest in land where the interest is valued at £500,000 or more  
(xix) the exercise of the Council’s compulsory purchase powers  
(xx) applications for funding from any external body which if successful would also 
require Council match funding of £500,000 or more, or entail a revenue commitment of at 
least £500,000 in total by the Council  

Page 73



 

(xxi) consideration of any matter which is to be the subject of a recommendation to full 
Council  
(xxii) consideration of any matter in which, to the decision-maker’s knowledge, the 
decision-maker (or any member of a committee or sub committee making the decision) 
has an interest which ought to be declared.  
(xxiii) the award of a contract with a total value of £200,000 or more  
(xxiv) where at least 5 members of the Council request that it be treated as a key 
decision, provided that in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, they do so a least 6 
weeks before a decision is likely to be taken  
(xxv) where there is evidence of significant local opposition to proposals made by the 
Council  
(xxvi) where the Chair of Council on advice from the Head of Paid Service and/or 
Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer is of the view that the matter is one which 
ought properly to be treated as a key decision, and informs the proper officer to that 
effect at least 6 weeks before the decision is in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer likely 
to be taken 

(d) A decision maker may only make a key decision in accordance with the requirements of 
the Executive Procedure Rules set out in Part IV of this Constitution 

Page 74



 

Public Accounts Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager 

Class Part 1 (open) 10 July 2019 

 
1. Purpose 

1.1 To advise members of the Committee’s work programme for the 2019/20 

municipal year and to agree the agenda items for the next meeting. 

2. Summary 

2.1 The Committee drew up a draft work programme at the beginning of the 

municipal year for submission to the Business Panel for consideration.  

2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each 

committee on 7 May 2019 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and scrutiny work 

programme.  

2.3 The work programme can, however, be reviewed at each Select Committee 

meeting to take account of changing priorities. 

3. Recommendations 

3.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 consider the work programme attached at Appendix B – and discuss any 

issues arising from the programme 

 consider the items scheduled for the next meeting – and specify the 

information the committee requires to achieve its desired outcomes 

 review the forthcoming key decisions set out in Appendix C – and consider 

any items for further scrutiny 

4. The work programme 

4.1 The work programme for 2019/20 was agreed at the meeting on 9 May 2019. 

4.2 Members are asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any items should be removed from the work programme.  

4.3 Any additional items should be considered against the prioritisation process 

before being added to the work programme (see flow chart below).  

4.4 The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of the 

meeting time available. If the committee agrees to add additional items, 

members will also need to consider which lower-priority items should be 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



 

removed to create sufficient capacity.

 

 

Page 76



 

 

 

 

 

 

4.5 Items within the committee’s work programme should be linked to the priorities of 

the Council’s Corporate Strategy.  

4.6 The Council’s Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 was approved at full council in 

February 2019.  

4.7 The strategic priorities of the Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 are: 

1. Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, where 
we celebrate the diversity that strengthens us. 

 
2. Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is 

secure and affordable. 
 
3. Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child 

has access to an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the 
support they need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full 
potential. 

 
4. Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-

quality job opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and 
inclusive local economy. 

 
5. Delivering and defending: health, social care and support - Ensuring 

everyone receives the health, mental health, social care and support 
services they need. 

 
6. Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and 

benefits from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve 
our local environment. 

 
7. Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living 

here as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77

https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/open-lewisham
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/tackling-the-housing-crisis
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/giving-children-and-young-people-the-best-start-in-life
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-an-inclusive-local-economy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/delivering-and-defending-health-social-care-and-support
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/making-lewisham-greener
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-safer-communities


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following items are scheduled for the next meeting. 
 
5.2 The committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it requires for each 

item, based on the outcomes it would like to achieve, so that officers are clear about 
what information they need to provide. 

 

Agenda item Review type 
Relevant Corporate 
Priority 

Priority 

Children’s social care 
update 

Performance 
monitoring 

Giving children and 
young people the best 
start in life 

High 

Budget cut proposals 
 

Performance 
monitoring 

All High 

Mid-year treasury 
management review 
 

Performance 
monitoring 

All High 

Financial forecasts 
2019-20 

Performance 
monitoring 

All High 

 
 
6. Referrals 
 
6.1 Below is a list of the referrals the committee has made this year: 
 

Referral title 
Date of 
referral 

Date 
considered by 
Mayor & 
Cabinet 

Response 
due at Mayor 
& Cabinet 

Response 
due at 
committee 

Income generation 
and 
commercialisation 

24 April 2019 8 May 2019 10 July 2019 24 Sep 2019 

 
 
 
  

Page 78



 

7. Financial implications 

There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 

8. Legal implications 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
9. Equalities implications 

9.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 
Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

9.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
9.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme and 

all activities undertaken by the Select Committee will need to give due consideration 
to this. 

 
Background documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Work Item Type of item Priority
Corporate 

priority

Delivery 

deadline
09-May-19 13-Jun-19 10-Jul-19 24-Sep-19 06-Nov-19 16-Dec-19 04-Feb-20 18-Mar-20

Catford regeneration partnership Standard item High All May

Income generation and commericalisation Standard item Medium All June

Final outturn 2018/19 Performance monitoring Medium All July

Children's social care Performance monitoring High CP3 November

Adult social care Performance monitoring High All December

Financial forecasts 2019/20 Performance monitoring High All March

Medium term financial strategy Performance monitoring Medium All July

Mid-year treasury management review Performance monitoring Medium All September

Budget cuts Performance monitoring High All November Cuts

Annual budget 2019/120 Standard item High All February Budget

Asset management Standard item Low All March

Audit Panel update Constitutional Requirement Low All March

Income generation and commericalisation In-depth review High All December Scope Evidence Evidence Report

Public Accounts Select Committee Work Programme 2019/20 Programme of work

P
age 81



 

1 SCS 1 1 CP 1

2 SCS 2 2 CP 2

3 SCS 3 3 CP 3

4 SCS 4 4 CP 4

5 SCS 5 5 CP 5

6 SCS 6 6 CP 6

7 CP 7

Delivering and defending: health, social 

care and support

Making Lewisham greener

Building Safer Communities

Open Lewisham

Tackling the Housing Crisis
Giving Children and young people the 

best start in life.

Priority

Ambitious and achieving 

Empowered and responsible

Corporate Priorities

Building an inclusive local economy

Healthy, active and enjoyable

Safer

Dynamic and prosperous

Priority

Shaping Our Future: Lewisham's Sustainable 

Community Strategy 2008-2020

Clean, green and liveable

P
age 82



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan July 2019 - October 2019 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent toKevin Flaherty 0208 3149327, the Local Democracy Officer, 
at the Council Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 83



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

March 2019 
 

Procuring external consultancy 
support for managing a Travel 
and Transport Programme 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Financial Results 2018/19 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Besson Street Business Plan 
2019/20  Part 1 and 2 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

March 2019 
 

Children and Young People's 
Plan 2019-22 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Lewisham library update 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Jonathan Slater, Cabinet 
Member for Community 
Sector 

 
  

 

P
age 84



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

February 2019 
 

Adoption Lewisham Park 
Conservation Area, 
accompanying Article 4 
direction, and appraisal 
document 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2019 
 

Provision of Services to Adults 
with Learning Disabilities - 
Contract Award 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Financial Forecasts 2019/20 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Extension and Variation CYP 
Core Assets contract 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

P
age 85



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

May 2019 
 

Increase capacity of Young 
Persons Accommodation 
based pathway 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Lewisham Homes Acquisitions 
Loan 3 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Evening and Night Time Offer - 
Lewisham's vision 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Andre Bourne, Cabinet 
member for Culture, Jobs 
and Skills (job share) 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Rushey Green Primary School 
Instrument of Government 
 

26/06/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Contract Award Cleaner Air 
Village 
 

09/07/19 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 

 
  

 

P
age 86



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

June 2019 
 

Lewisham Gateway - Further 
Longstop Extension 
 

09/07/19 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Update on development of 
Bakerloo Line Extension 
scheme 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Revised List of Locally Listed 
Buildings 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

March 2019 
 

Fleet Vehicle Replacement 
Programme 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Future options for the Parks 
Service 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 

 
  

 

P
age 87



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

April 2019 
 

Permission to Tender Tier 2/3 
Drug Services/Shared Care 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Joani Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Safer 
Communities 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

New Cross Area Framework + 
Station Opportunity Study  
Supplementary Planning 
Document 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Change of Age Range at Addey 
and Stanhope School 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Approval for Single Tender 
action for Counter Fraud Hub 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

P
age 88



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

May 2019 
 

Low Emission Vehicle 
Charging Strategy 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Permission to Tender Sexual 
Health Promotion 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Disposal of Downham 
Business Enterprise Centre 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Contract Award Out of Hours 
Switchboard 2019-2022 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Permission to Procure Youth 
Services 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 

 
  

 

P
age 89



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

June 2019 
 

Adopting a Residents Charter 
for Lewisham 
 

10/07/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Contract Award Refugee 
Resettlement Service 
 

23/07/19 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

February 2019 
 

Children and Young People's 
Plan 2019-22 
 

24/07/19 
Council 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

November 2018 
 

Neighbourhood CIL Strategy 
 

24/07/19 
Council 
 

Janet Senior, Executive 
Director for Resources & 
Regeneration and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Statement of Accounts 
 

24/07/19 
Council 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

P
age 90



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

June 2019 
 

Appointment of Chief 
Executive 
 

24/07/19 
Council 
 

Adam Bowles, Head of 
OD & HR and Councillor 
Jacq Paschoud, Chair of 
Council 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Award of Contract Tier 4 
Substance Misuse Framework 
 

18/09/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Joani Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Safer 
Communities 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Anti-Idling Enfocement 
 

18/09/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Brenda Dacres, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Disposal of Horton Kirby 
Centre 
 

10/10/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Disposal of Bryn Coedwig 
Outdoor Education Centre 
Alberllefeni Machynlleth 
 

10/10/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Disposal of Tyn y Berth Centre, 
Corris, Machynlleth 
 

10/10/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

February 2019 
 

Insurance Renewal 
 

30/10/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 

David Austin, Head of 
Corporate Resources and 

 
  

 P
age 91



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

April 2019 
 

Contract Award Tier 2/3 Drug 
Services/Shared Care 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Joani Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Safer 
Communities 
 

 
  

 

August 2018 
 

Lewisham Strategic Heat 
Network Business Case 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Customer Services and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

P
age 92



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2019
	2 Declarations of interest
	4 Children's social care update
	5 Financial forecasts 2019-20
	6 Scoping report - commercialisation and culture change in-depth review
	7 Select Committee work programme
	07 Appendix B - Select committee work programme 2019-20
	07 Key decision plan


